DEVELOPMENT OF ELECTROSPUN FIBER COATED THIN FILM MICROEXTRACTION DEVICES FOR RAPID MASS SPECTROMETRIC DETERMINATION OF POLAR CANCER BIOMARKERS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

BY

MERVE ÖZTÜRK

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHEMISTRY

JANUARY 2023

Approval of the thesis:

DEVELOPMENT OF ELECTROSPUN FIBER COATED THIN FILM MICROEXTRACTION DEVICES FOR RAPID MASS SPECTROMETRIC DETERMINATION OF POLAR CANCER BIOMARKERS

submitted by MERVE ÖZTÜRK in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Chemistry, Master of Science in Chemistry, Middle East Technical University by,

Prof. Dr. Halil Kalıpçılar	
Dean, Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences	
Prof. Dr. Özdemir Doğan Head of the Department, Chemistry	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ezel Boyacı Supervisor, Chemistry, METU	
Examining Committee Members:	
Prof. Dr. Ahmet Emin Eroğlu Chemistry, Izmir Institute of Technology	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ezel Boyacı Chemistry, Middle East Technical University	
Prof. Dr. Gülay Ertaş Chemistry, Middle East Technical University	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Süreyya Özcan Kabasakal Chemistry, Middle East Technical University	
Assist. Prof. Dr. Erol Yıldırım Chemistry, Middle East Technical University	

Date: 25.01.2023

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name Last name : Merve Öztürk

Signature :

ABSTRACT

DEVELOPMENT OF ELECTROSPUN FIBER COATED THIN FILM MICROEXTRACTION DEVICES FOR RAPID MASS SPECTROMETRIC DETERMINATION OF POLAR CANCER BIOMARKERS

Öztürk, Merve Master of Science, Chemistry Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ezel Boyacı

January 2023, 107 pages

One of the leading reasons of deaths around the world is cancer, and most deaths are associated with late diagnosis. In this regard, the development of rapid and reliable analytical methods that can be used in routine control and early diagnosis of the cancer is of great importance. Solid phase microextraction (SPME) is a sampling and sample preparation technique which offers a platform for development of tools suitable for clinical applications. Its thin film geometry when is made in sword like shape, so-called coated blade spray (CBS), can be also used as electrospray ionization source in direct to mass spectrometric analysis. However, the current CBS devices have low affinity for polar analytes.

In this thesis, new CBS devices providing high extraction kinetics and high affinity for polar analytes were prepared and an analytical method for determination of clinically important polar urinary metabolites was developed. For this purpose, various polymeric nanomaterials were prepared by the electrospinning method. Hydrolyzed polyacrylonitrile coated probe showed the best performance among all tested polymers and was selected to be used in the study. The extraction conditions were optimized for the determination of amino acids (phenylalanine and tryptophan), nucleotides (8-Oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG) and 8-Oxo-2'-deoxyadenosine (8-oxo-dA)) and neurotransmitters (serotonin and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid) which are essential biomarkers in cancer diagnosis, in urine.

Validation results showed that the limits of quantification of the final method for all the analytes were 50.0 ng/mL except 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid which was 100.0 ng/mL, and the entire process including sample preparation and analysis takes only 6 minutes.

Keywords: Electrospinning, Coated Blade Spray, Mass Spectrometry, Solid Phase Micro Extraction

POLAR KANSER BİYO-İŞARETLEYİCİLERİNİN HIZLI KÜTLE SPEKTROMETRİK TAYINİ İÇİN ELEKTROEĞRİLMİŞ FİBER KAPLI İNCE FİLM MİKRO EKSTRAKSİYON CİHAZLARININ GELİŞTİRİLMESİ

Öztürk, Merve Yüksek Lisans, Kimya Tez Yöneticisi: Doç. Dr. Ezel Boyacı

Ocak, 2023, 107 sayfa

Dünya çapında önde gelen ölüm nedenlerinden biri kanserdir ve ölümlerin çoğu geç tanı ile ilişkilendirilir. Bu bakımdan kanserin rutin kontrolünde ve erken tanısında kullanılabilecek hızlı ve güvenilir analitik yöntemlerin geliştirilmesi büyük önem taşımaktadır. Bir numune alma ve numune hazırlama tekniği olan katı faz mikro ekstraksiyon (SPME), klinik uygulamalara uygun araçların geliştirilmesi için bir platform sunmaktadır. Kılıç benzeri geometride yapıldığında, kaplı bıçak spreyi (CBS) olarak adlandırılan ince film geometrisi, doğrudan kütle spektrometrik analizde elektrosprey iyonizasyon kaynağı olarak da kullanılabilir. Bununla birlikte, mevcut CBS cihazlarının polar analitler için afinitesi düşüktür.

Bu tez çalışmasında, polar analitler için hazırlanan yüksek ekstraksiyon kinetiği ve yüksek afinite sağlayan yeni CBS cihazları hazırlanmış ve klinik olarak önemli polar üriner metabolitlerin tayini için analitik bir yöntem geliştirilmiştir. Bu amaçla elektroeğirme yöntemi ile çeşitli polimerik nanomalzemeler CBS ekstraktif kaplamaları olarak hazırlanmıştır. Hidrolize poliakrilonitril kaplı prob, test edilen tüm polimerler arasında en iyi performansı göstermiş ve çalışmada kullanılmak üzere seçilmiştir. Ekstraksiyon koşulları, kanser teşhisinde temel biyo-işaretleyiciler olan amino asitler (fenilalanın ve triptofan), nükleotidler (8-okso-dG ve 8-okso-dA) ve nörotransmiterlerin (serotonin ve 5-hidroksi indol asetik asit) idrarda tayini için optimize edilmiştir.

Metot validasyon sonuçları geliştirilen CBS-MS metodu ile 5-hidroksi indol asetik asit için 100,0 ng/mL ve diğer analitler için 50,0 ng/mL tayin sınırına örnek hazırlama ve ölçüm dahil olmak üzere 6 dakika gibi kısa bir sürede ulaşılabileceğini göstermiştir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Elektroeğirme, Kaplamalı Bıçak Spreyi, Kütle Spektrometre, Katı Faz Mikro Ekstraksiyon To my family

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ezel Boyacı for her endless support, guidance, patience, and encouragement throughout the research.

I would like to acknowledge Prof. Dr. Ahmet Emin Eroğlu and Prof. Dr Bekir Salih for their contributions, advice, and valuable comments.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Jale Hacaloğlu for allowing the use of their laboratory equipment.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Yeliz Akpınar for her support and encouragement.

I would like to thank Ezgi Rana Temel and Kübra Kahremanoğlu for their support, friendship, encouragement, and shared memories.

I also would like to thank my labmates Ceylin Öktem, Enes Çetin, Merve Çakmakçı and every other member of Boyacı research group for their friendship and support.

I owe my special thanks to İmran Çağlayan, my sister and my true friend.

I would like to express my thanks a lot to my lovely partner Nuri Öztürk for his patience and support during all my studies.

I would thank my precious family for their unconditional love, care, and tolerance.

This work is funded by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey under grant number TUBİTAK 119Z863.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTv
ÖZvii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSx
LIST OF TABLES xvi
LIST OF FIGURES xvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxx
LIST OF SYMBOLS xxii
CHAPTERS
CHAPTER 11
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Electrospray Ionization
1.2 Direct-to-MS technologies
1.2.1 DART4
1.2.2 DESI
1.2.3 Paper Spray5
1.2.4 I knife
1.2.5 MasSpec Pen7
1.2.6 Coated blade spray7
1.3 Conventional sample preparation10
1.4 Solid phase microextraction (SPME) 11
1.5 Thin film microextraction (TFME)14

1.6 Coating methods for SPME and TFME	15
1.6.1 Spray coating	15
1.6.2 Dipping technique	15
1.6.3 Electrospinning	16
1.6.3.1 Factors affecting electrospinning process	17
1.7 SPME extractive phases	18
1.7.1 Extractive phases used in direct to MS	19
1.8 The role of SPME in diagnostic studies	21
1.8.1 Disease biomarker	21
1.8.2 Cancer biomarkers in urine	21
1.9 Aim of the study	24
CHAPTER 2	25
EXPERIMENTAL	25
2.1 Reagents and materials	25
2.2 Instrumental	25
2.3 Methods development for LC-MS	26
2.4 Coupling of the CBS to the MS	
2.5 Preparation of polar CBS blades	
2.5.1 PAN as extractive phase for CBS	
2.5.1.1 Electrospinning of PAN	
2.5.1.2 Hydrolysis of electrospun PAN	31
2.5.1.3 Coating the CBS blades with electrospun PAN nanofibers	31
2.5.1.4 Hydrolysis of electrospun PAN on CBS blades	32
2.5.2 PVP as extractive phase for CBS	33

2.5.2.1 Electrospinning of PVP	. 33
2.5.2.2 Crosslinking of PVP electrospun fibers	. 34
2.5.2.2.1 Crosslinking with initiator	. 34
2.5.2.2.2 Crosslinking by heat treatment	. 35
2.5.2.2.3 Crosslinking with UV light	. 35
2.5.2.2.4 Heat followed by UV crosslinking	. 35
2.5.3 PVA-PVP blend as extractive phase for CBS	. 36
2.6 Evaluation of coated blades with LC-MS	. 36
2.6.1 Effect of hydrolysis time of electrospun PAN on analyte sorption	. 37
2.6.2 Optimization of extraction parameters	. 37
2.6.2.1 Effect of pH on the extraction of analytes	. 37
2.6.2.2 Effect of ionic strength on the extraction of analytes	. 38
2.6.2.3 Effect of extraction time on the extraction of analytes	. 38
2.6.2.4 Effect of desorption solvent on elution of the analytes	. 39
2.7 CBS-MS	. 39
2.7.1 Effect of desorption volume	. 40
2.7.2 Effect of desorption solvent	. 40
2.7.3 Effect of desorption time	. 40
2.7.4 Comparison of HLB-SCX and hydrolyzed PAN as CBS-MS	
coating	. 41
2.8 Validation studies	. 42
2.8.1 Linearity and limit of quantification (LOQ)	. 42
2.8.2 Repeatability	. 43
2.8.3 Accuracy	. 43
2.8.4 Comparison of SPE-LC-MS and CBS-MS	. 43

CHAPTER 3	45
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	45
3.1 CBS-MS optimizations	45
3.2 Preparation of polar CBS blades	46
3.2.1 PAN as extractive phase for CBS	17
3.2.1.1 Electrospinning of PAN	17
3.2.1.2 Hydrolysis of electrospun PAN	19
3.2.1.3 FTIR spectra of PAN based coatings	51
3.2.2 PVP	53
3.2.2.1 Electrospinning of PVP	53
3.2.2.2 Crosslinking of electrospun PVP	56
3.2.2.1 Crosslinking with initiator	56
3.2.2.2 Crosslinking of PVP using heat	59
3.2.2.3 Heat followed by UV crosslinking	51
3.2.3 PVA-PVP blend as extractive phase for CBS	54
3.3 CBS-LC-MS	56
3.3.1 Effect of electrospun PAN hydrolysis time on analyte sorption	56
3.3.2 Optimization of extraction parameters	57
3.3.2.1 Effect of pH on the extraction of analytes	57
3.3.2.2 Effect of ionic strength on the extraction of analytes	58
3.3.2.3 Effect of extraction time on the extraction of analytes	70
3.3.2.4 Effect of desorption solvent on elution of the analytes	72
3.4 CBS-MS	73
3.4.1 Effect of desorption volume	73

3.4.2 Effect of desorption solvent	74
3.4.3 Effect of desorption time	76
3.4.4 Comparison of HLB-SCX and hydrolyzed PAN as CBS-MS	
coating	77
3.5 Validation studies	78
3.5.1 Linearity and limit of quantification (LOQ)	79
3.5.2 Repeatability	80
3.5.3 Accuracy	82
3.5.4 Comparison of SPE-LC-MS and CBS-MS	83
CHAPTER 4	85
CONCLUSION	85
REFERENCES	89
APPENDICES	105
A. CBS-MS and LC-MS Chronograms	105

LIST OF TABLES

TABLES

Table 1.1 Extractive phases used in various studies in which SPME or TFME is	
coupled directly to MS2	20
Table 1.2 Cancer biomarkers in urine 2	23
Table 2.1 The gradient used in the HILIC method 2	27
Table 2.2 Selected analytes 2	27
Table 2.3 Tested CBS-MS parameters 2	29
Table 2.4 Experimental parameters evaluated for PAN electrospinning	30
Table 2.5 Tested parameters for optimization of electrospinning of PVP	34
Table 2.6 Optimized parameters for heat and UV crosslinking of fibers	36
Table 3.1 CBS-MS conditions 4	16
Table 3.2 Electrospun PAN fibers obtained under various electrospinning	
conditions4	18
Table 3.3 SEM images of hydrolyzed PAN5	50
Table 3.4 Electrospun PVP fibers obtained under various electrospinning	
conditions5	54
Table 3.5 Crosslinking studies of PVP using initiator 5	58
Table 3.6 Crosslinking of PVP using heat (Electrospinning conditions: polymer:	
30%, solvent: ethanol, voltage: 20 kV, flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, distance: 15 cm)6	50
Table 3.7 SEM images of PVP crosslinked with heat and UV light	
(Electrospinning conditions: polymer: 30%, solvent: ethanol, distance: 15 cm,	
voltage: 20 kV, flow rate: 0.4 mL/h)6	52
Table 3.8 Crosslinking of electrospun PVA-PVP with citric acid ϵ	55
Table 3.9 Intra-day repeatability values	31
Table 3.10 Inter-day repeatability values	31
Table 3.11 Inter-day accuracy (relative error)	32
Table 3.12 intra-day accuracy (percent relative error) 8	33
Table 3.13 Comparison of SPE and CBS in the unknown sample (actual value	
300.0 ng/ mL)	34

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Experimental setup for CBS-MS
Figure 1.2. Typical protocol used for the CBS 10
Figure 1.3. Typical SPME procedure
Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of electrospinning process 17
Figure 2.1. Experimental setup for the optimized CBS method
Figure 2.2. The schematic representation of the electrospinning process used in
this study
Figure 2.3. General representation of the preparation of CBS blades
Figure 3.1. FTIR spectra of electrospun PAN (upper spectrum) and electrospun
PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH for 2.50 hours (lower spectrum) (spectral
resolution of 4 cm ^{-1})
Figure 3.2. FTIR spectra of electrospun PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH
for 2.5 hours (spectral resolution of 2 cm^{-1})
Figure 3.3. The expected crosslinking reaction of PVP with the initiator
(K ₂ S ₂ O ₈) (Beram et al., 2018)
Figure 3.4. Effect of the hydrolysis time of PAN on extraction (Extraction
conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL,
desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption
time: 15 min
Figure 3.5. Effect of solution pH on sorption (Extraction conditions; sample
volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, $v/v/v$) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 min)
Figure 3.6. Effect of salt amount on sorption (Extraction conditions; sample
volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 min)

Figure 3.7. Extraction time profile of analytes (Extraction conditions; sample
volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, $v/v/v$) with 0.1% F.A., desorption volume 150 µL,
desorption time: 15 min)71
Figure 3.8. Desorption solvent optimizations (Extraction conditions; sample
volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption volume:
150 μL, desorption time: 15 min)72
Figure 3.9. Effect of solvent volume on desorption and signal (Extraction
conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL,
desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption
time: 15 sec)
Figure 3.10. Desorption solvent optimizations (Extraction conditions; sample
volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, $v/v/v$) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec)75
Figure 3.11. Optimization of desorption time (Extraction conditions; sample
volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, $v/v/v$) with 0.1% F.A., desorption volume 10.0 µL)77
Figure 3.12. Comparison of hydrolyzed PAN and SCX-HLB-PAN coated CBS
blades (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, $v/v/v$) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec)78
Figure 3.13. CBS-MS calibration graphs obtained for polar analytes
(Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, desorption solvent:
ACN:MeOH:H ₂ O (2:2:1, $v/v/v$) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec)80
Figure A.1. Mass spectrum of nicotine (m/z=163.2), phenylalanine
(m/z=166.2), serotonin (m/z=177.2), 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (m/z=192.2),
tryptophan (m/z=205.2), 8-oxo-Da (m/z=268.2), and 8-oxo-dG (m/z=284.2)
obtained in CBS-MS105
Figure A.2. LC-MS chromatogram of analytes obtained in SIM mode
(concentration: 50.0 ng/mL)

Figure A.3. Typical total ion chronograms obtained during the optimization	
of the voltage of the external voltage source in CBS-MS studies	107

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABBREVIATIONS

ACN	Acetonitrile	
AIMS	Ambient ionization mass spectrometry	
CBS	Coated blade spray	
DART	Direct analysis in real-time	
DESI-MSI	Desorption electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry imaging	
GC	Gas chromatography	
HILIC	C Hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography	
HLB	Hydrophilic–lipophilic balance	
HLB-SCX	HLB with strong cation exchange groups	
IS	Internal standard	
LC	Liquid chromatography	
LLE	Liquid-Liquid Extraction	
LOQ	Limit of quantification	
MS	Mass spectrometry	
nESI	Nano electrospray ionization	
PA	Polyacrylate	
PAN	Polyacrylonitrile	
PVA	Poly(vinyl alcohol)	
PDMS	Polydimethylsiloxane	

PVP	Polyvinylpyrrolidone
SPE	Solid phase extraction
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
SPME	Solid phase microextraction
TFME	Thin film microextraction
FTIR	Fourier-Transform Infrared Spectroscopy

LIST OF SYMBOLS

SYMBOLS

- ⁰C Degree Celsius
- h Hour
- m/z Mass to charge ratio
- mL Milliliter
- μL Microliter

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Recently, analytical determination using liquid chromatographic (LC) or gas chromatographic separation (GC) coupled with mass spectrometric (MS) detection has been preferred in many clinical research areas. These methods allow to separate the analyte of interest from other components found in the matrix; therefore, they improve the selectivity of the method and reliability of the results. However, chromatographic separation is time consuming and could be the bottle neck of the analysis in clinical studies where rapid determination of various critical metabolites is required [1,2]. As an alternative technique, direct MS analyses in which the sample can be directly analyzed in its native state (without sample preparation and chromatographic separation), decreases the time that is spend for separation of analytes. However, the most crucial disadvantage of ambient mass spectrometry is its low analytical sensitivity due to introduction of the matrix components and analytes at the same time to the MS. Therefore, there is a need for an innovative sample preparation method which can eliminate problems of direct to mass spectrometry analysis, such as ion suppression and high background that diminish the analyte signal. In solid phase microextraction (SPME), which is sample preparation method that can combines sampling and sample preparation in a single step, fewer matrix effects are expected from biological fluids when directly coupled with a mass spectrometer as a result of minimal coextraction of matrix macromolecules [3,4]. Especially the thin-film geometry of SPME with a sword-like tip (coated blade spray, CBS) has recently become popular for clinical and bioanalytical applications as this sampler acts both as an extractive device and ionization source when is coupled with a mass spectrometer [5]. CBS has also high throughput capabilities in sample preparation which further decreases the time spend for the analysis. Many studies have shown that this approach can be used for rapid and sensitive analyzes of various biological, environmental and food samples [6]. This thesis aims to prepare an SPME-based probe which can be coupled directly with MS for fast determination of various neurotransmitters, nucleotides and amino acids identified as cancer biomarkers in urine. For this purpose, new polar extractive phases with thin and homogeneous surface coatings were prepared for CBS-MS applications using the electrospinning approach as a coating method. The prepared polar extractive phase coated blades were optimized for the determination of various amino acids (phenylalanine and tryptophan), nucleotides (8-oxo-dG and 8-oxo-dA) and neurotransmitters (serotonin and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid) which are essential biomarkers in cancer research, in urine.

1.1 Electrospray Ionization

Generally, in the conventional LC-MS approaches, the first step involves a chromatographic separation, then separated analytes are ionized by electrospray ionization (ESI) and finally detected in the mass spectrometer [7]. Electrospray ionization works based on a spray of charged droplets containing analyte molecules dissolved in a solvent. A conductive capillary with a sharp tip facilitates to pump of the solvent-analyte solution, and voltage is used between the mass spectrometer's input and capillary. Electric field intensity is highest at the cone tip. The liquid coming out of the capillary is converted into a Taylor cone by the strong electric field [8]. Charged droplets, when released from the cone, are accelerated by the electric field and move faster in the direction of the mass spectrometer inlet. Nebulizing gas is used to promote spray generation and increase electrospray stability. The solvent in the droplet evaporates as it approaches the MS inlet. The charge density is higher in the smaller droplet. A Coulombic explosion occurs when the droplet reaches the Rayleigh limit, where the charges equal the surface tension [9]. After this explosion, a few small droplets are formed. The residual charged carriers (in positive ion mode) are bound to the analyte when the solvent has finally completely evaporated. These charged species are easily detected by MS. The majority of MSs use a dry gas heated input system to assist the solvent evaporation.

1.2 Direct-to-MS technologies

Among many analytical techniques, mass spectrometry (MS) based methods have many advantages, such as high response speed, high specificity, and high sensitivity [10]. However, as mentioned before, prior to mass spectrometric (MS) analysis, sample pre-treatment and chromatographic separation are usually necessary for traditional MS-based analytical methods. Therefore, a fundamental issue limiting the efficiency of MS-based approaches is the practical sample preparation process. In 2004, the ambient mass spectrometric technique was introduced by Cooks and coworkers [11]. Ambient mass spectrometry (AMS) is completed in an open atmosphere on various samples in their natural environment or by using different surfaces or matrices. Ambient ionization mass spectrometry (AIMS) allows highthroughput, direct, rapid, in vitro, and in vivo analysis of gases, liquids, and solids. The most practical part of direct to mass spectrometric analysis is that the analyte is transferred directly to the mass spectrometer without the requirement for chromatographic separation [12–14]. Many other AIMS approaches have been developed over the last two decades, and several are now extensively used worldwide. The majority of the published scientific work is focused on direct analysis in real time (DART), desorption electrospray ionization (DESI) and paper spray ionization (PSI). As recently reviewed by Alberici et al., AIMS has a wide variety of applications in various scientific fields, including cancer pathology, forensic analysis, biomedicine, neurology microbiology, plant science, and pharmaceuticals [10]. However, a few particular AIMS approaches, such as the MasSpec Pen, SpiderMass and i-Knife, have been developed for real-time and in vivo analysis [15]. These approaches offer significant potential for the pharmacokinetic studies of human skin and intraoperative cancerous tissue identification. AIMS technology has the potential for in-field environmental analysis

or on-site clinical analysis because of its simplicity and ability to deliver quick analytical results, as less than 1 second is required from ion formation to signal acquisition for most MS [16]. In contrast, in most laboratories currently, chromatography based analytical procedures take several hours or days to complete the analysis of samples. The most practical part of direct to mass spectrometric analysis is that the analyte is transferred directly to the mass spectrometer without the requirement for chromatographic separation. The details of the techniques are given below.

1.2.1 DART

DART-MS could analyze a sample at atmospheric pressure, particularly in its natural environment [17]. The DART technique can be applied to compounds that are deposited or adsorbed on surfaces. DART-MS analysis depends on a gas-phase ionization process. The initial creation of ionized species in DART is accomplished with the help of a corona discharge, which produces excited noble gas atoms that trigger progressive gas-phase processes when released into the atmosphere [18]. The predominant mechanism of analyte ion production from a specific sample is particularly reliant on the analyte. The DART ion source is suitable for both polar and non-polar compounds. DART-MS is simple and convenient for safety and forensic applications such as illegal substances, warfare agents on baggage or screening for traces of explosives [19,20]. DART can also be applied for rapid determination and the identification of compounds from chemical synthesis or analyze liquid or solid bulk materials for quality control.

1.2.2 DESI

DESI is an ionization technique applied to condensed phase samples; it can be used for solid samples, liquids, frozen solutions, and adsorbed gases, including complex biological materials [21,22]. The technique is almost instantaneous in response time, highly sensitive, and can be applied to proteins, small-molecule organic compounds and other biological molecules. The DESI approach combines desorption ionization and electrospray (ESI) ionization. Similar to ESI, it uses an electrospray source to ionize the analytes from the sample surface under ambient conditions. In DESI the electrospray source is directed to a surface of a sample which is placed in front of the inlet of the MS, enabling the analysis of a thin film or a surface top layer of the sample. A conventional DESI source contains two separate components to successfully transfer the ions: the surface on which the sample rests and a spray capillary. A solvent pump keeps the solvent flowing continuously through the capillary. Application of a high voltage to the spray capillary which is carrying the spray solvent is the first step in ionizing the analytes. As voltage is supplied to the spray solvent by a metal electrode, a charged primary microdroplet is emitted by pneumatic and electrophoretic forces [23]. The nebulizing gas stream accelerates the primary droplets to the surface, and these droplets extract the analytes. As a result, charged micro-droplets are created. Pneumatic nebulization and electric potential in the spray solution are applied to aid desolvation process which is the dissociation of solvent molecules [24]. As a result of the primary droplets' kinetic effect, secondary microdroplets comprising the dissolved analyte and a highly charged solvent are created. From the sample surface to the MS inlet, these secondary microdroplets are ionized [25]. Like the desolvation process in traditional ESI, droplet desolvation occurs as they pass through the air due to Coulomb fissions and solvent evaporation [26]. The nitrogen gas stream assists in transferring the droplets towards the heated inlet of the mass spectrometer.

1.2.3 Paper Spray

In this approach, a paper is cut into triangle shape, and then sample is placed on the paper with the wetting solution or simply preloaded onto the paper [27]. Applying high voltage to the paper substrate initiates the ionization process. The high voltage used on the paper can be positive or negative, generally ranging from 2.0 to 5.5 kV.

The stability of the signal and the strength of ion formation are affected by variables such as the distance between the mass spectrometer inlet and the paper spray tip, the volume of solvent, and the tip angle [28]. Numerous spray jets are produced from the edges and surface of the paper thanks to the paper's cellulosic fibers, and each one contributes to spread of a few microns of the solvent droplet. Paper spray is similar to nano electrospray ionization (nESI) with microliter spray solvent volumes and small droplet properties. However, nESI cannot analyze low and non-polar aromatic compounds with high sensitivity compared to paper spray chemical ionization [29]. The paper spray is used to analyze a variety of molecules, including small organic molecules, proteins, and peptides.

1.2.4 I knife

Takats group has developed a combination of MS and surgical techniques that applies the chemical analysis of tissue in situ during surgery [30], known as I knife. In this technique, ionization occurs during the use of electrocautery to stop bleeding or cut tissue at the surgical site [31]. A high-frequency current forms in the tissue, resulting in ionization through the tissue evaporation. The electrocautery handpiece is connected to the atmospheric interface of the mass spectrometer by a plastic tubing. Gaseous ions rapidly travel from the study site to the mass spectrometer. The results were similar in tissue specificity to DESI without any sample preparation. The atmospheric interface is adjusted to pass surgical smoke through the coil to improve signal-to-noise ratios before entering the MS. The ionized small and large molecular fragments are exposed to a collision surface so that they break up into many smaller fragments more appropriate for analysis. These molecules then transfer to the mass spectrometer. The main benefits of the I knife can be listed as integrates well with tools and instruments in use by surgeons, requires no sample preparation, and is rapid.

1.2.5 MasSpec Pen

The MasSpec Pen is a tool connected to an MS for cancer diagnosis and rapid tissue analysis that allows efficient extraction of biomolecules from a tissue sample [32]. The MasSpec Pen was developed as a disposable and straightforward device that can be used to interact with living tissues made of chemicals and biocompatible materials. The probe tip material is made of PTFE, and the conduit tubes are made of PDMS. These polymers are biocompatible materials commonly used in medical devices [33]. The MasSpec Pen has achieved highly selective mass spectra from biological samples characterized by metabolite ions, multiple charged protein ions and mono- and double-charged lipids like those produced by desorption electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry imaging (DESI-MSI) and ESI methods [34]. In fact, this approach follows the principles of a simple liquid-solid extraction and identifies molecules in tissue using a water droplet, without the need to use an electric field and gas when collecting the sample at the surface. Since only a discrete drop of water is deposited on a tissue sample for a certain period in this approach, the tissue integrity is preserved. The water droplet containing the analytes is transported to the MS and directly into a heated transfer tube, after which evaporation and ionization take place in the entrance region of the MS.

1.2.6 Coated blade spray

Coated blade spray (CBS) was developed for rapid, quantitative, and qualitative analysis of complex mixtures [35]. CBS is a thin film coated blade geometry of solid phase microextraction (SPME) [36–38]. The CBS device, coated with a polymer, is made of a stainless-steel sheet-like sword (Figure 1.1). It offers additional advantages such as a well-defined sharp tip, better electrical conductivity than paper spray, and convenient handling with large sample volumes without surface deformation.



Figure 1.1. Experimental setup for CBS-MS

CBS has a dual function of both extracting analytes from complex samples and being used as an ESI source. An excellent compromise exists between direct coupling to mass spectrometry and sample preparation when CBS is employed in the analysis. Furthermore, the extractive properties of the device provide minimization in the matrix effects, and improvement of limits of quantification (LOQ), making it an ideal tool for rapid diagnosis [39]. In contrast to CBS, in the other ambient ionization approaches (PS, DESI and DART), there is no selective ionization. Hence, CBS is advantageous over other methods since it has an extractive phase and protects analytes against the presence of matrix components. Moreover, instead of a nonconductive, porous substrate of the paper spray, the substrate material of CBS made of stainless steel is assumed to produce a more stable electric field. In other words, more efficient and repeatable ions are generated during spraying because of the electric field between the MS inlet and the blade tip. In an identical sampling procedure, CBS can achieve better sensitivity than other SPME geometries due to its large sorbent volume dispersed in a highly big surface area [40]. In this way, even by simply increasing the interaction time between the sample and the coating from 15 s to 1 min, lower LODs can be obtained. Three factors affect the selection of appropriate desorption/ionization conditions for CBS process: 1. the desorption solvent affinity and analyte chemistry; 2. the analyte kinetics between the solvent drop and the extractive phase; and 3. spray ability of the solvent at the blade's tip. Moreover, CBS geometry allows for the automation of sample preparation and analysis [41]. CBS probes have been used successfully in biological fluids such as urine, blood, and plasma [42]. As one of the crucial problems with direct to mass spectrometric analysis is the matrix affects, the use of an extractive phase places a critical role in sensitive direct to MS analysis. In this regard, the coating of the blades, not only is important for the enrichment of small molecules from the sample but also minimizes the introduction of macromolecules and salts to a mass spectrometer, eliminating the matrix effect. Therefore, CBS offers substantial sensitivity compared to detection limits of SPME combined with LC-MS/MS or other direct to MS techniques.

The typical CBS procedure begins with quick preconditioning of the extractive phase, (see Figure 1.2) [43]. It then continues with the extraction part, which may take a very short time depending on the matrix and analyte concentration. The coated blade is immersed directly into the sample vial for extraction. After the extraction step, the blade is rinsed quickly with water to remove loosely attached matrix components. Then the blade is placed in front of an MS inlet in the shortest possible distance safe to avoid arc formation. Then the desorption solvent (5-20 μ L) is added to the blade, waited for a short time, and a high voltage is applied. As the voltage is applied analytes are transferred to the MS inlet by forming a Taylor cone similar to ESI.



Figure 1.2. Typical protocol used for the CBS

1.3 Conventional sample preparation

As highlighted above, for sensitive analysis with direct to mass spectrometric approaches sample preparation plays an important role. There are many traditional sample preparation techniques used in conventional analytical analyses. One of the most straightforward techniques is "dilute and shot" and is usually employed for urine analysis [44,45]. It is the most rapid method, but the detection limit is high. Although the sample dilution followed by chromatographic separation reduces the overall matrix concentration, the analyte is diluted. This causes decreased sensitivity in analysis. Another simple sample preparation technique is protein precipitation (PPT) and usually is used in whole blood and plasma samples [46]. The PPT approach uses various salt solutions or agents such as heat, strong acids/bases, or a small amount of sample matrix miscible organic solvent to denature and precipitate the proteins and release the bound analytes to the solution. The sample is generally centrifuged to separate denatured proteins. PPT is useful as a rapid method for samples where the analytes are bound to the matrix and their interference is common. Liquid-Liquid Extraction (LLE) is another method of sample preparation [47]. This method isolates the analytes from the matrix by mixing an aqueous sample with an immiscible organic solvent. When the analytes prefer the organic phase to the aqueous phase, analyte separation from the matrix occurs. The amount of solvent used, the laborious and time-consuming processes, and the low affinity for polar molecules are some drawbacks of LLE [48]. To address many of the limitations of LLE and PPT approaches, frequently solid phase extraction (SPE) is used for the separation of the target analytes from liquid samples. In this method, an aqueous sample is passed through a cartridge in which an extractive phase is immobilized [49]. Due to affinity of the analyte towards the extractive phase, the analytes are strongly hold on the sorbent while sample matrix is not retained. Following the sorption step, a desorption step with a strong eluent is performed to release the extracted analytes to a smaller volume suitable for instrumental analysis. However, extremely polar analytes have low breakthrough volumes due to restricted efficiencies brought on by low retention. Nevertheless, switching the sorbent type is one of the methods used in SPE to get around the breakthrough volume. SPE has several benefits over LLE, including, significantly less solvent consumption, a wider range of analyte selectivity, and better efficiency. The main issues with SPE based techniques in their applications to biological samples include repeatability problems, high cost per sample and low recoveries which requires extra care in quantitative analysis.

1.4 Solid phase microextraction (SPME)

SPME is a well-designed sampling and sample preparation technique developed by Pawliszyn and Belardi in the early '90s [50]. Compared to conventional SPE and LLE methods, SPME has great advantages such as versatility, minimal solvent use, in vivo and on-site applicability, and flexibility in design [51,52]. In SPME, the extraction phases are generally prepared by immobilization of extractive particles on thin support or bare fibers. Recoveries are low since SPME often uses small volumes of extraction phases. Consequently, in most of the cases, SPME is a non-exhaustive extraction technique. Moreover, SPME can be performed in different modes, including headspace extraction, direct extraction and membrane-protected extraction providing flexibility and possibility for variety of applications. In a typical extraction, the analytes migrate between three phases: the fiber coating, a homogeneous matrix of air or water and the headspace or gas phase until equilibrium is achieved. The general equilibrium of the analyte in the system is associated with the mass of the analyte extracted on extractive coating. As the total amount of analyte is constant in the system the following mass balance exists for a typical SPME process:

$$C_o V_s = C_h^\infty V_h + C_f^\infty V_f + C_s^\infty V_s$$
 1.1

Where, C_o is the analyte's initial concentration in the matrix; C_s^{∞} , C_h^{∞} and C_f^{∞} are concentrations of the matrix at equilibrium, headspace, and the analyte in the coating, respectively; V_s , V_h and V_f are volume of matrix, headspace, and coating, respectively. If the gas/sample matrix distribution constant is expressed in the equation as $K_{hs} = C_h^{\infty} / C_s^{\infty}$, and coating/gas distribution constant as $K_{fh} = C_f^{\infty} / C_h^{\infty}$, then $n = C_f^{\infty} / V_f$, the mass of the analyte absorbed by coating is defined as

$$n = \frac{K_{fh}K_{hs}V_fV_sC_o}{K_{fh}K_{hs}V_f+V_s+V_hK_{hs}}$$
 1.2

$$K_{fs} = K_{fh}K_{hs} = K_{fg}K_{gs}$$
 1.3

If the impact of moisture in the gaseous headspace is disregarded, Equation 1.2 can be represented as

$$n = \frac{K_{fs}V_fV_sC_o}{K_{fs}V_f+V_s+V_hK_{hs}}$$
 1.4

According to the equilibrium conditions, the equation expresses that the location of the fiber in the system does not affect the extraction amount of the analyte. It may be placed directly in the sample or in the headspace if the volumes of the sample, headspace and fiber coating are maintained constant. Assuming that the sample vial is filled, or the analyte is not present in the headspace of the sample, the term $K_{hs}V_h$, which relates to the capacity (C_rV_h) of the headspace in the denominator, is simplified, and result in the following formula:

$$n = \frac{K_{fs}V_fV_sC_o}{K_{fs}V_f+V_s}$$
 1.5

If the volume of the sample is much larger compared to the volume of the fiber (V_f <<< V_s); the equation is further simplified to Equation 1.6 which highlights the field sampling abilities of SPME based techniques as sample volume information becomes insignificant for quantitative purposes.

$$n = K_{fs} V_f C_o 1.6$$

A typical SPME procedure is shown in Figure 1.3. The first step in this protocol is preconditioning step which prepares the coating for extraction. The coating is then washed to ensure that preconditioning solution is removed from the sorbent. In the extraction stage, the coating is immersed in the matrix, and the analyte extraction begins. Following the extraction, a second wash takes place to remove any loosely attached matrix components from the sorbent. Finally, the extracted analytes are transferred to the desorption solvent and resulting solution is analyzed with suitable instrument.



Figure 1.3. Typical SPME procedure

1.5 Thin film microextraction (TFME)

Thin film microextraction (TFME) is one of the popular geometries of SPME [53]. The relatively large volume of the extractive phase deposited as a thin film allows to extract higher amounts of analyte in a short time; therefore, improves the sensitivity of SPME [54]. This improvement can be realized in Equations 1.5 and 1.6 given in the previous section which show the intrinsic correlation between the amount of analyte extracted into the extractive phase at equilibrium (*n* or n_e^{eq}) and the effect of the volume of the extractive phase [55]. The time required to reach the equilibrium extraction (t_e) can be calculated by Equation 1.7; where, b, δ and D_s refer to thicknesses of extractive phase and boundary layer, and the diffusion coefficient of analyte within the sample, respectively. This equation shows that a thin layer should be used to achieve a faster extraction equilibrium.

$$t_e = 3 \frac{\delta K_{es} b}{D_s}$$
 1.7

Also, Equation 1.8 shows that the surface area of the extraction phase (A) is directly proportional to the initial extraction rate, expressed as the amount extracted (dn) per
a given time (dt). Thus, faster extraction kinetics is achieved by dispersing a relatively large volume of extraction phase in a large surface area with a thin layer.

$$\frac{dn}{dt} = \frac{D_s A}{\delta} C_O$$
 1.8

1.6 Coating methods for SPME and TFME

Various methods have been used to coat supports such as metal wires or fused silica fibers with sorbents. Recently, the researchers have directed their efforts to more straightforward SPME preparation methods. These methods have resulted in higher functional surface area and better coating stability. The most used SPME coating methods are given below.

1.6.1 Spray coating

Spray coating is a process of forming a very fine droplets of coating slurry on the surface of the support [56]. Nebulization in the spray nozzle converts the coating liquid into fine droplets which is directed on the support surface to obtain physically stable coating. To obtain a uniform film on the support, various factors must be controlled. The solvent used the particle size, air pressure, the temperature, the flow rate, the distance between the spray nozzle and substrate, the speed of the moving nozzle during spraying and the concentration of the polymer solution, are all to be taken into consideration.

1.6.2 Dipping technique

The dipping method typically involves placing fibers or other suitable substrates for a short period of time in the slurry of the material to be deposited [57]. Gravitational force, inertia, surface tension, and viscous drag are the major forces used in the dipcoating process. After the fiber is coated, the solvent is evaporated resulting in formation of a thin film of extractive phase.

1.6.3 Electrospinning

In recent years, nanostructured coating materials for SPME fibers have received increased attention [58] as nanostructured materials have a high surface-to-volume ratio, providing many active sites for adsorption and allowing efficient extraction and separation. One of the efficient ways to produce a nanostructured SPME phase is to use the electrospinning approach which is a well-establish technique for producing polymer fibers with various diameters in the nanometer, sub-micrometer, and micrometer range [59,60]. High voltage is used in the electrospinning process to initiate an electric field between a collector plate and the tip of the needle. (Figure 1.4). A Taylor cone is created when the electric field exceeds the surface tension of the droplets. The Taylor cone is produced, and then polymeric nanofibers travel toward the collector. SPME fibers with varying chemical compositions are produced using the electrospinning method by mixing numerous polymers and polymer blends. This method is versatile in varying the SPME fiber composition and facilitates the fabrication of high-surface-area fibers.



Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of electrospinning process

1.6.3.1 Factors affecting electrospinning process

In nanofiber production by electrospinning method, variables such as the distance between the tip of the syringe and the grounded collector plate, flow rate, voltage, ambient conditions, and solution properties affect the nanofiber structure [61]. By changing these parameters, nanofibers with adjustable diameters can be obtained. One of the parameters affecting the diameter of fibers in electrospinning process is voltage. At higher voltages, higher electrostatic interaction is seen, so the polymer solution is sprayed more. Since the polymer reaches the collector plate faster, the thickness of the fibers is less with this increase in jet velocity. For electrospinning to occur, the electric potential energy must be higher than the surface energy. A Taylor cone is formed when the surface energy and the electric potential energy are close to each other. The flow rate significantly affects the electrospun nanofibers' porosity, diameter, and form. Increases in flow are linked to larger pore sizes and diameters, although extremely high flows increase the probability of beads formation [62]. The distance between the grounded plate and the needle tip is adjusted, and thus the shape and size of the fibers can be changed. Nevertheless, it has a lesser impact than other variables. Short distances can create defects on fiber, like roughness, undulation, waviness, folds, wrinkles, and misalignment [63]. Also, the fiber diameter can decrease with increasing distance between the grounded plate and the needle tip. Another critical parameter effecting the electrospinning process is the concentration of the polymer solution. In electrospinning, the concentration of polymer solution affects fiber shape. The diameter of nanofibers increases with increasing polymer concentration. However, the relationship between solution concentration and fiber diameter is frequently nonlinear. The nonlinear connection between polymer solution concentration and solution viscosity is related to this nonlinear relationship. The viscosity of a polymer solution grows gradually as the concentration rises until it reaches a certain point, at which point the viscosity increases dramatically. For electrospinning the molecular weight of the polymer solution is also important. It impacts molecular weight, viscosity, surface tension, surface charge density, and dielectric strength, among other things.

1.7 SPME extractive phases

Solid phase microextraction coating type is critical for extraction of reasonable amount of analytes [50]. The first coatings used in SPME were polyacrylate (PA) and polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) which were coated on fused silica fiber. Later, different coatings were introduced to the market to extract the analytes with enhanced sensitivity. As polar coatings; polyacrylate, polydimethylsiloxane/divinylbenzene (PDMS/DVB), carbowax/templated resin (CW/TPR-100) and as non-polar coatings; polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) were introduced commercial products [64–66]. The as most known Polydimethylsiloxane/Divinylbenzene Copolymer (PDMS/DVB) fiber consist of a mixture of liquid polydimethylsiloxane polymer and divinylbenzene polymer. The pores in DVB provide strong retention of analytes and the porous structure makes this coating suitable for trace level analysis, especially for C6-C15 containing analytes. Although the PDMS-DVB extractive phase provides higher affinity for polar analytes compared to only PDMS, better selectivity can be achieved for the extraction of alcohols and amines when Carbowax/Divinylbenzene copolymer (CW/DVB) is used as extractive phase. The pore diameter of the extractive particles is also important and play critical role in the extraction as such the size of the analyte molecule to be extracted should be maximum in half the pore diameter size to ensure that the analyte can enter withing the pores. In fact, Carboxen®, one of the SPME coatings, has a wide variety of pore sizes; therefore, for analytes in the C2-C12 range, the PDMS/Carboxen® coating achieves good extraction sensitivity. However, larger molecules are difficult to desorb from the pores due to micro condensation process.

In addition to the commercial coatings, homemade coatings with tuned properties for specific group of analytes, or studies have been developed by different groups [67].

1.7.1 Extractive phases used in direct to MS

SPME is an effective sample preparation method that uses fiber coated with a polymeric phase [68]. The coating on the fiber mainly affects the selectivity of extraction. Table 1.1 shows a summary for extractive phases used in various studies in which SPME or TFME is coupled directly to MS [69–71].

SPME coating	SPME	SPME support	Ionization
	geometry		method
HLB particles-PAN	SPME	Nitinol wires	ESI
C18-PAN	SPME	Stainless steel	CBS
		sheet	
C18-SCX	SPME	Nitinol wires	NanoESI
PDMS/DVB	SPME	Stainless steel	DESI
Graphite	SPME	Stainless-steel	DEP
TiO ₂	SPME	Stainless steel	nanoESI
		needle	
PDMS/DVB, CW/DVB	SPME	Titanium wires	DESI
PAN-over C18 – PAN	SPME	Stainless steel	DART
		mesh	
RAM	SPME	Steel and	nanoESI
		platinum wire	
CW/DVB	SPME	Titanium wires	DESI
SWNTs	IT-SPME	Glass capillary	DART
PAN-over C18 – PAN	TFME	Stainless steel	DART
		mesh	
C18-PAN	TFME	Stainless steel	DART
		mesh	
CW-DVB, PDMS, PDMS-	SPME	Titanium wires	DESI
DVB, PA			
Silica C18	SPME	Titanium wires	DESI
PDMS	SBSE	Stir bar	DART
MWNT	SPME	Glass capillary	PALDI
Mixed C18/SCX	TFME	Stainless steel DESI	
		rod	
PDMS	TFME	PDMS	DCBI
		substrate	
Graphite	SPME	Electrode	LTP
CNT	TFME	CNT film	DCBI

Table 1.1 Extractive phases used in various studies in which SPME or TFME is coupled directly to MS

RAM: Restricted access material

MWNT: Multi-walled carbon nanotube

SWNT: Single-walled carbon nanotube

PA: Polyacrylate

CNT: Carbon nanotube

SCX: Strong cation exchange

CW: Carbowax

LTP: Low-temperature plasma

IT: In-tube

1.8 The role of SPME in diagnostic studies

1.8.1 Disease biomarker

A biomarker, in general, is anything that can be used as an indicator for a particular disease condition or other physiological states of an organism [72]. Biomarkers include metabolites, proteins, genes, and genetic variations from various sources such as tissues or body fluids. Proteins have received the most significant attention as prospective biomarkers because they are the biological endpoint that regulates many biological processes, are efficient in circulation, and can be evaluated with high analytical sensitivity.

1.8.2 Cancer biomarkers in urine

Cancer is one of the life-threatening diseases, with approximately 200 distinct forms having been found, resulting in over 1500 fatalities per day [73]. Despite today's technical breakthroughs, the survival rate of patients with this disease is extremely low due to the late detection of cancer. Cancer is caused by a combination of genetic accumulation, environmental factors, and inherited epigenetic abnormalities. Cancer's onset and course are linked to genetic and epigenetic alterations. These alterations cause tumorigenic changes and tumors by disrupting cellular signaling. The tumor mass, in cancer, expands due to uncontrolled cell proliferation. Because these procedures are dependent on the phenotypic features of the tumor, general methods such as ultrasonography, magnetic resonance imaging, and biopsy are insufficient for early-stage cancer identification. Urine has been investigated as a beneficial source of information for evaluating various cancer diseases [74].

Generally, urine is a rich source of intermediate and end products from multiple metabolic processes, and it is the carrier of blood wastes. The advantages of using urine in cancer diagnosis are that it is available in large quantities, can be collected without invasive treatments, and rich in metabolites. Thus, urine can provide information from distant organs. However, many of these biomarkers are polar analytes. The main problem about the polar analyte is that their extraction from polar urine is more difficult compared to nonpolar analytes as polar analytes show high affinity towards the aqueous matrix. In fact, the extractive phases used for SPME show low affinity for polar analytes [75]. Therefore, the extraction and analysis of such analytes is challenging. Detecting alterations in concentrations of various amino acids, nucleotides and neurotransmitters in urine is considered important in cancer diagnosis. Table 1.2 shows urinary metabolites for which a link between cancer and alteration in their concentration has been found. For example, recent studies have shown that tryptophan is the most frequently altered metabolite in many types of cancer [76]. It has been observed that the amino acid levels of phenylalanine and tryptophan are decreased in esophageal cancer. Because of the obstructive nature of advanced esophageal cancer, up to 79% of patients developed some degree of malnutrition before being diagnosed as aromatic amino acid metabolism (especially phenylalanine and tryptophan) may become dysfunctional in gastroesophageal cancer [77]. Considering that tryptophan and phenylalanine are essential amino acids in the human diet, it is reasonable to see changes in the metabolism of tryptophan in this cancer. In a study comparing the metabolic profiles of normal, benign, and cancerous bladders, it was revealed that phenylalanine and tryptophan were increased in bladder tumors compared to benign bladder tissue. This study shows that tryptophan and phenylalanine are important in the diagnosis of bladder cancer.

In fact, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) which is urinary metabolite of serotonin is considered as the first-line test analyte in the diagnosis of bladder cancer [78]. Serotonin was also found at high levels in patients with carcinoid tumors. It has also been detected at high levels in various stages of the tumor in urothelial carcinoma [79]. Studies draw attention to nucleotides identified as another important biomarker group [80,81]. It has been found that the concentration of 8-Oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG) is higher in the urine of cancer patients and older adults than in healthy people [82]. Elevated levels of 8-oxo-dG in cancer patients have been

particularly associated with DNA damage repair mechanisms [83]. These examples indicate how important it is to detect these polar metabolites in urine.

Biomarkers	Disease/Disorder	References
Phenylalanine, Tryptophan	Bladder Cancer	[84]
Phenylalanine, Tryptophan	Esophageal Cancer	[85]
Phenylalanine, L-Tryptophan	Lung Cancer	[86]
8-Hydroxy-2'-Deoxyguanosine	Breast Cancer	[87]
Serotonin	Colorectal Cancer	[88]
5-Hydroxyindoleacetic Acid	Bladder Cancer	[89]
Serotonin	Carcinoid Cancer	[90]
Adenosine	Lung Cancer	[91]
A-Methylacyl-Coa Racemase	Prostate Cancer	[92]
B-Alanine	Prostate Cancer	[93]
Tyrosine-Phosphorylated	Bladder Cancer	[94]
L-Ascorbic Stearate	Bladder Cancer	[95]
4-Hydroxyphenylacetate	Breast Cancer	[96]
Tetrahydrophenanthrene	Lung Cancer	[97]
Tryptophan	Colorectal Cancer	[98]
A-Methylacyl Coenzyme A Racemase	Prostate Cancer	[99]

Table 1.2 Cancer biomarkers in urine

1.9 Aim of the study

As described above, new analytical methods that can be used for reliable and rapid analyses is crucial in clinical diagnosis. CBS-MS with many advantages became one of the important technologies for such purposes. However, up to date only hydrophilic–lipophilic balance (HLB) type extractive phase made with dip coating approach were used for extraction of analytes with CBS. Although the dip coating is practical approach for making the CBS coating, in this approach the extractive particles are immobilized on the CBS surface in bulk PAN polymer, as such the analyte must diffuse through the entire coating to reach the maximum sensitivity in the system.

In this study, development of a novel CBS device with nanostructured extractive phases for rapid and sensitive analysis of polar analytes described as urinary biomarkers of cancer is proposed. In order to achieve the aim of the study, for the preparation of the novel extractive phase electrospinning approach which provides large surface area of interaction with analytes, thus fast extraction kinetics, was selected. The prepared electrospun coating also was functionalized with polar moieties (weak anion and cation exchange groups) by hydrolysis to provide stronger sorbent-analyte interaction; therefore, better sensitivity for polar analytes. The prepared polar extractive phase-coated blades were optimized for use in the determination of cancer biomarkers in urine.

CHAPTER 2

EXPERIMENTAL

2.1 Reagents and materials

Analytical standards, serotonin, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), tryptophan and phenylalanine were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich while 8-Oxo-2'deoxyadenosine (8-oxo-dA) and 8-Oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG) were purchased from Cayman and LGC, respectively. Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP, MW= 40000) and polyacrylonitrile (PAN, MW=150000) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and were used in the preparation of the electrospun based extractive phases. The NaOH used in the hydrolysis of PAN was obtained from Carlo Erba. Solvents such as N, N dimethylformamide (DMF, HPLC grade) and ethanol (HPLC grade) were purchased from Sigma Aldrich and used in the preparation of the PAN and PVP polymer solutions, respectively. Acetonitrile (ACN) (HPLC grade) and methanol (HPLC grade) were used as mobile phase in LC and various steps of sample preparation, and they were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. Commercial HLB cartridges were used for the SPE method (Supelco HLB, 500 mg sorbent). Chemicals used to prepare synthetic urine, sodium sulfite, urea, and disodium hydrogen phosphate were from Riedel-de Haën, and creatinine, potassium dihydrogen phosphate, and ammonium chloride were from Merck.

2.2 Instrumental

Agilent MSD single quadrupole mass analyzer was used in coated blade spray (CBS) studies. Philip Harris 5kv dc was used as an external voltage source for CBS. Electrospinning experiments for the coating of the blades were carried out using

nanoWEB Electro-Spin110 device equipped with Inc. NE 300 Spellman SL30 brand DC power supply and New Era Pump Systems. In method development studies, Agilent LC-MS with ESI ion source and Merck SeQuant ZIC-HILIC (particle size 3.5 µm, column dimensions 100 x 2.1 mm, and pore size 200 Å,) column was used for the separation of polar analytes. Elma Elmasonic D-78224 ultrasonic bath was used to facilitate the cleaning of the blades and to degas the mobile phases prior to use. For characterization studies of PAN and hydrolyzed PAN, FTIR Spectrometer (Bruker Alpha) was used. The morphology and diameter size of the resulting electrospun fibers were evaluated using scanning electron microscope (SEM) QUANTA 400F FE-SEM. The MSH-20A model magnetic stirrer was used in the preparation of polymeric solutions, crosslinking, and hydrolysis reactions. ISOLAB VORTEX mixer was used for homogenization of the samples.

2.3 Methods development for LC-MS

Several chromatographic columns and chromatographic conditions were tested to separate the analytes. As a result of these studies, it was found that the hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography (HILIC) with SeQuant® ZIC-HILICTM (3.5 μ m, 200 Å 100 x 2.1 mm) column gave the best chromatographic method. Gradient separation of the analytes was achieved using the method given in Table 2.1 with a mobile phase flow of 0.35 mL/min. The mobile phase A used in the gradient consists of H₂O containing 0.1% formic acid and 1.0 mM ammonium formate, while the mobile phase B consists of ACN containing 0.1% formic acid and 1.0 mM ammonium formate. In the analyses, the column temperature was fixed at 40.0 °C and 20.0 μ L of sample or standard was injected into the column. A quality control sample was prepared (QC, 100.0 ng/mL phenylalanine and atenolol) and the performance of the instrument was evaluated daily with this mixture. The selected analytes of the study can be seen in Table 2.2. The spectrum of the LC-MS is shown in Appendix A Figure A.1.

Time (min)	%A	%B
0	10	90
2	10	90
13	50	50
14	50	50
15	10	90
18	10	90

Table 2.1 The gradient used in the HILIC method

Mobile phase A: 0.1 formic acid 1 mM ammonium formate in H₂O Mobile phase B: 0.1 formic acid 1 mM ammonium formate in acetonitrile

Table 2.2 Selected analyte

Analytes	Analyte Structure	LogP	MW	Adduct	m/z
Phenylalanine	OH NH ₂	-1.2	165.19	M+H	166.2
Tryptophan	H H H O H	-1.06	204.23	M+H	205.2
Serotonin	HO NH2	0.56	176.21	M+H	177.2
5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid	но	1.28	191.18	M+H	192.2

Table 2.2 (cont'd)

8-oxo-dG	-2.6	283.24	M+H	284.2
8-oxo-dA	-1.5	267.24	M+H	268.2

2.4 Coupling of the CBS to the MS

CBS was coupled to a single quadrupole MS and direct mass spectrometric analyses were performed. CBS blades were made of stainless-steel. The thickness of a blade was 0.5 mm, and the length of the probe was 50 mm while the width was 3 mm. An external high-power source was used as the voltage source for the blades. The extractive phase-coated blade spray (CBS) probe was connected to the MS as shown in Figure 2.1. The CBS blade was placed 1.0 cm far from the mass spectrometer inlet. A significant decrease in sensitivity was observed in shifts of more than 2 mm from inlet, and arc flashing was observed at distances closer than 1.0 cm. The external source voltage set directly form the instrument has been tested between 2 kV and 4.5 kV to obtain the highest signal possible. For the optimization of solvent amount, the CBS blade was placed at the fixed distance, MeOH/H₂O, (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A. with 750.0 ng/mL tryptophan was introduced on the CBS blade. The amount of solvent was optimized and set at 10.0 µL. Arc lighting was also observed at 15.0 µL of solvent volume. The external voltage supplied to the blade was also optimized. At external source voltages lower than 4.0 kV, the analytes could not be transferred to the MS inlet. An external source voltage of 4.5 kV was applied from the high voltage source attached to the back of the CBS blade as provided better sensitivity compared to the same voltage settings directly on the instrument. At this stage, with the applied voltage Taylor cone was formed and the solvent and analyte ions were sprayed as vapor from the tip of the blade towards the mass spectrometer inlet. Sufficient sensitivity was possible without the need for auxiliary (auxiliary and sheath) gases. This part has been optimized as summarized in Table 2.3. During the optimization studies, the signal obtained for 7.5 ng (750.0 ng/mL, 10.0 μ L) tryptophan was studied with three replicates.



Figure 2.1. Experimental setup for the optimized CBS method

Trial	Distance	External voltage	Drying gas
number	(cm)	(kV)	(L/min)
1	1.0	4.5	3.0
2	1.0	4.0	3.0
3	1.0	3.0	3.0
4	1.0	4.5	1.0
5	1.0	4.5	3.0
6	1.0	4.5	5.0
7	1.0	4.5	6.0

Table 2.3 Tested CBS-MS parameters

2.5 Preparation of polar CBS blades

2.5.1 PAN as extractive phase for CBS

The extractive property of the polyacrylonitrile (PAN) polymer is quite low; therefore, the obtained polymer must be functionalized to be used as an extractive phase. The extractive phase preparation experiments proceeded in two steps, (1) electrospinning of PAN and (2) hydrolysis of electrospun PAN to a weak cation exchange polymer.

2.5.1.1 Electrospinning of PAN

For simplicity reason, initial electrospinning optimization studies were carried on an aluminum foil rather than on the blade. As a first step, 10% (w/w) PAN was dissolved in DMF by 24 hours stirring to obtain a homogeneous solution. Then, at various flow rates ranging from 0.4 mL/h to 2.4 mL/h, PAN solution was electrospun using a syringe pump and high voltage supply. The voltage applied to syringe needle and the distance between the needle and the grounded collector was varied to obtain the conditions providing the best nanofibrous morphology. Similar to electrospray ionization in ESI-MS, by application of the voltage to the needle tip a Taylor cone was formed and the electrospun fibers were collected in the grounded collector plate. The parameters optimized in this experiment performed for optimization of electrospinning of the PAN are given in Table 2.4.

Sample #	Polymer	Solvent	Distance	Flow rate	Voltage
			(cm)	(mL/h)	(k V)
1	10% PAN	DMF	15	2.4	14
2	10% PAN	DMF	15	2.4	8
3	10% PAN	DMF	21	2.4	14

Table 2.4 Experimental parameters evaluated for PAN electrospinning

Table 2.4 (cont'd)

4	10% PAN	DMF	21	2.4	20
5	10% PAN	DMF	21	0.4	20
6	10% PAN	DMF	21	1.0	20
7	10% PAN	DMF	8	2.4	20

2.5.1.2 Hydrolysis of electrospun PAN

The initial hydrolysis optimization was carried directly with electrospun mat. The hydrolysis of electrospun PAN was optimized by varying the NaOH concentration and the reaction time. For this purpose, 0.5 M, 2.0 M, and 5.0 M NaOH solutions and 1, 2, 2.5, 3, 5 and 8 hours of reaction times were tested. The hydrolysis reaction was performed in an oil bath (at 70 0 C) by constant stirring at 700 rpm. During the hydrolysis process, the color of the PAN nanofibers changed from white to orange. After the reaction, the electrospun PAN was washed multiple times with distilled water to remove any traces of NaOH.

2.5.1.3 Coating the CBS blades with electrospun PAN nanofibers

During the adaptation of electrospinning process for CBS, horizontal and vertical electrospinning setups were tested. It has been found that the vertical set up is more efficient to prepare coatings with less material waste in shortest time. Figure 2.2 illustrated the electrospinning set up used in this study. In a typical experiment, the blade was mounted on the rotatable collector plate and electrospinning was performed for 3 minutes by applying a voltage to the syringe needle feeding the PAN solution. A fine tuning for electrospinning process was repeated with the conditions given in Table 2.4. After the blades were coated, they were hydrolyzed as described in the next section.



Figure 2.2. The schematic representation of the electrospinning process used in this study

2.5.1.4 Hydrolysis of electrospun PAN on CBS blades

After the CBS blades were coated with electrospun PAN, the hydrolysis process was applied directly to the blades. Three different hydrolysis procedures were applied to the blades. In the first procedure, the blades were hydrolyzed with 2.0 M NaOH for 30, 60, and 120 minutes at 70 °C. In the second procedure, the blades were hydrolyzed with 0.5 M NaOH for 60 min at 70 °C. In the third procedure, hydrolysis was performed with 5.0 M NaOH at 70 °C for 1, 2, 2.5, 3, 5 and 8 hours. After each hydrolysis reaction, the blades were washed with distilled water until neutral wash solutions were observed. As in the case of hydrolysis of electrospun PAN mat, the color of the coating on the blades changed from white to orange during the hydrolysis step. The steps involved in the preparation of functional electrospun-coated CBS blades are summarized in Figure 2.3. After 2.5 hours of hydrolysis with 5.0 M NaOH, coating loss was observed from the blades.



Figure 2.3. General representation of the preparation of CBS blades

2.5.2 PVP as extractive phase for CBS

PVP was selected as an alternative polar polymer to be used as an extractive phase. Differently from PAN, PVP is soluble in water; therefore, PVP experiments proceeded in two steps: (1) electrospinning of PVP and (2) crosslinking of electrospun PVP to avoid its solubility.

2.5.2.1 Electrospinning of PVP

Various concentrations of PVP (20%, 30%, 40%, 50% and 60%, w/w) were prepared in ethanol or water. The electrospinning of PVP was optimized as in case of PAN. The summary of tested electrospinning parameters is shown in Table 2.5.

Sample #	Polymer	Solvent	Distance	Flow rate	Voltage (kV)
			(cm)	(mL/h)	
1	30% PVP	Ethanol	8	0.4	8
2	30% PVP	Ethanol	8	0.4	14
3	30% PVP	Ethanol	8	0.4	20
4	30% PVP	Ethanol	15	0.4	14
5	30% PVP	Ethanol	15	0.4	20
6	30% PVP	Ethanol	15	2.4	20
7	30% PVP	Ethanol	15	0.4	20
8	30% PVP	Ethanol	15	0.4	8
9	20% PVP	Ethanol	15	0.4	8
10	20% PVP	Ethanol	15	0.4	14
11	20% PVP	Ethanol	8	0.4	14
12	20% PVP	Ethanol	8	0.4	8
13	20% PVP	Ethanol	8	0.4	20

Table 2.5 Tested parameters for optimization of electrospinning of PVP

2.5.2.2 Crosslinking of PVP electrospun fibers

PVP polymer has a highly polar structure therefore it is highly soluble in water. Consequently, the polymer must be crosslinked to eliminate its solubility in water and other polar solvents before used as an extractive phase. Hence, electrospun PVP was crosslinked using four different methods described below.

2.5.2.2.1 Crosslinking with initiator

20% (w/w) PVP was prepared in ethanol, and 2.5×10^{-4} mol of potassium peroxydisulfate (K₂S₂O₈) was added as an initiator. The resulting mixture was electrospun under pre-optimized conditions (flow rate 0.4 mL/h, voltage 20 kV, distance 15 cm). Following the electrospinning, the mats were kept in an oven at 80 °C for 1, 2, 3 and 4 hours to complete the crosslinking.

2.5.2.2.2 Crosslinking by heat treatment

PVP crosslinking was also investigated under heating the mat at 150 °C for 6, 12, 24 and 44 hours. These trials were performed with 30% PVP (dissolved in ethanol) with following electrospinning conditions: flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, voltage: 20 kV, distance: 15 cm.

2.5.2.3 Crosslinking with UV light

The next tested crosslinking method for PVP mat was curing with UV light at 254 nm wavelength for 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes as described by Rosa et al. [100]. These trials were performed with 30% PVP (dissolved in ethanol) with following electrospinning conditions: flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, voltage: 20 kV, distance: 15 cm.

2.5.2.2.4 Heat followed by UV crosslinking

Finally, a combined method in which the PVP mat was first crosslinked at 150 °C at varying time intervals and sequentially subjected to UV light for 30 and 60 minutes was tested. Table 2.6 illustrates the tested parameters for heat and UV crosslinking of PVP mats. Following the crosslinking, each mat was tested to check whether they were soluble in water or not by keeping in water for 5 and 15 minutes.

Sample #	Crosslinking conditions:
1	150 °C/6 h
2	150 °C/6 h
3	30 min UV light 150 °C/12 h
4	150 °C/12 h 30 min UV light
5	150 °C/12 h 60 min UV light

Table 2.6 Optimized parameters for heat and UV crosslinking of fibers

2.5.3 PVA-PVP blend as extractive phase for CBS

For this study, 1.0 g of 10% polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) (dissolved in water) was mixed with 0.36 g of citric acid, and then 0.50 g of 30% PVP (dissolved in ethanol) solution was added following the protocol described by Truong et al. [101]. The resulting mixture was in the form of a gel. Prior to electrospinning, to dissolve the gel, the mixture was stirred at 50-60 °C for 15 minutes on a hot plate within a magnetic stirrer. The effect of the crosslinker amount was also tested by adding 0.10, 0.20 and 0.36 g of citric acid to the polymeric mixture. The electrospinning was performed with the following conditions: 20 kV voltage, the distance between the tip of the syringe and the grounded collector plate:12 cm and mixture flow rate: 1 mL/h. To complete the crosslinking of the electrospun material, the mat was kept in an oven at 130°C for 15, 30, 60 and 120 minutes.

2.6 Evaluation of coated blades with LC-MS

Before testing the novel CBS probes for direct to MS analyses, first, the extractive properties were characterized with classical method (LC-MS). The studies

performed are summarized below. Representative chromatograms of the analytes are shown in Appendix A Figure A.2.

2.6.1 Effect of hydrolysis time of electrospun PAN on analyte sorption

To find out the optimum hydrolysis conditions that leads to best sensitivity the extraction performances of blades produced with different hydrolysis conditions were tested. For this purpose, 3 replicates of unhydrolyzed PAN, hydrolyzed PAN for 1 hour with 5.0 M NaOH, 2 hours with 5.0 M NaOH, and 3 hours with 5.0 M NaOH were prepared. The extraction was performed using 1.5 mL of synthetic urine containing 250.0 ng/mL of each analyte (serotonin, phenylalanine, tryptophan, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid). The extractions were performed for 30 min using 1000 rpm as agitation speed. Desorption of analytes from the blades was carried out with 1.5 mL of acetonitrile/methanol/water (40/40/20, v/v/v) mixture containing 0.1% formic acid at 1000 rpm agitation for 30 min.

2.6.2 Optimization of extraction parameters

Increasing the overall repeatability and sensitivity of the method for coated blade sprays is important and for this reason the effect of pH, ionic strength, extraction time, desorption time and desorption solvents were investigated in three replicates. Since these parameters are independent of the CBS applications and only indicate the performance of the extractive phase these parameters were investigated in LC-MS.

2.6.2.1 Effect of pH on the extraction of analytes

Phosphate buffer solution with pH of 3.0, 5.0, 7.0 and 10.0 were prepared using suitable conjugate acid base pairs of phosphate and spiked with the analytes. Before extraction, firstly, the blades were preconditioned in 1.5 mL of methanol/water

(50/50, v/v) for 30 min. without mixing in such a way that the coating was completely submerged in the solution. Preconditioned blades were then quickly washed with distilled water (1.5 mL) and then submerged into 1.5 mL of buffer solution spiked with 500.0 ng/mL of all analytes (serotonin, phenylalanine, tryptophan, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid). The extractions were performed for 5 min using 1000 rpm as agitation speed. Desorption of analytes from the blades was carried out with 150.0 μ L of acetonitrile/methanol/water (40/40/20, v/v/v) mixture containing 0.1% formic acid at 1000 rpm agitation for 15 min.

2.6.2.2 Effect of ionic strength on the extraction of analytes

Different amounts of NaCl were added to the solution to investigate the effect of salt concentration on extraction of the analytes. Prepared samples were no salt, 0.010 M, 0.10 M, and 1.0 M NaCl in ultra-pure water. Before extraction, firstly, the blades were preconditioned in 1.5 mL of methanol/water (50/50, v/v) for 30 minutes without mixing in such a way that the coating was completely submerged. Preconditioned blades were then quickly washed with distilled water (1.5 mL) and then submerged into 1.5 mL of solution spiked with 500.0 ng/mL of all analytes (serotonin, phenylalanine, tryptophan, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid). The extractions were performed for 5 min using 1000 rpm as agitation speed. Following that, the extracted analytes were desorbed from the coated blade spray with 150.0 μ L of acetonitrile/methanol/water (40/40/20, v/v/v) mixture containing 0.1% formic acid at 1000 rpm agitation for 15 min.

2.6.2.3 Effect of extraction time on the extraction of analytes

The effect of extraction time on the extracted analytes was investigated with various extraction times. Investigated extraction times were 1 min, 2 min, 5 min, 15 min and 30 min. Before extraction, firstly, the blades were preconditioned in 1.50 mL of methanol/water (50/50, v/v) for 30 minutes without mixing in such a way that the coating was completely submerged. Preconditioned blades were then quickly

washed with distilled water (1.5 mL) and then submerged into 1.5 mL of synthetic urine solution (pH 6.4) spiked with 500.0 ng/mL of all analytes (serotonin, phenylalanine, tryptophan, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid). The extractions were performed for 1, 2, 5, 15 and 30 min using 1000 rpm as agitation speed. Following that, the extracted analytes were desorbed from the coated blade spray. Desorption of analytes from the blades was carried out with 150.0 μ L of acetonitrile/methanol/water (40/40/20, v/v/v) mixture containing 0.1% formic acid at 1000 rpm agitation for 15 min.

2.6.2.4 Effect of desorption solvent on elution of the analytes

The effect of the desorption solution on elution of the analytes was investigated with 3 different solvents, namely, ACN:MeOH:H₂O (40:40:20, v/v/v) containing 0.1% formic acid, MeOH:H₂O (50:50, v/v) containing 0.1% formic acid, and MeOH:H₂O (85:15) containing 0.1% formic acid. Before extraction, firstly, the blades were preconditioned in 1.5 mL of methanol/water (50/50, v/v) for 30 minutes without mixing in such a way that the coating was completely submerged. Preconditioned blades were then quickly washed with distilled water (1.5 mL) and then submerged into 1.5 mL of synthetic urine solution (pH 6.4) spiked with 500.0 ng/mL of all analytes (serotonin, phenylalanine, tryptophan, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid). The extractions were performed for 5 min using 1000 rpm as agitation speed. Following that, the extracted analytes were desorbed from the coated blade spray with 150.0 μ L of MeOH/H₂O (50:50; v/v) with 0.1% F.A, MeOH/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A and ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A at 1000 rpm agitation for 15 min.

2.7 CBS-MS

Following the preliminary investigation of the coatings with LC-MS, direct MS optimization studies were carried out to obtain the maximum sensitivity possible

from the CBS-MS system. For this purpose, the effect of desorption solvent, desorption volume and desorption time were optimized.

2.7.1 Effect of desorption volume

The effect of desorption volume was investigated in three replicates of four different desorption volumes: 5.0, 10.0, 15.0, and 20.0 μ L of ACN:MeOH:H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. As a first step, extraction was performed. For this purpose, the blades were immersed in 1.5 mL of synthetic urine (pH 6.4) containing 500.0 ng/mL of mixed analyte and the extraction was performed for 5 min at 1000 rpm. Following the extraction, blades were washed in 1.5 mL of water for 2 seconds. The above-mentioned desorption volumes were tested in CBS-MS mode using 15 s as desorption time.

2.7.2 Effect of desorption solvent

The effect of the desorption solution on the signal obtained was investigated with three different solvents, namely, ACN/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A, MeOH/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A and ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. For this purpose first extractions were performed with the blades by immersing them in 1.5 mL of synthetic urine (pH 6.4) containing 500.0 ng/mL of mixed analyte for 5 min at 1000 rpm. Following the extraction, blades were washed in 1.5 mL of water for 2 seconds. 10.0 μ L mixture of ACN/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A, MeOH/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A and ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A, MeOH/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A and ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A.

2.7.3 Effect of desorption time

The desorption time of the CBS process is very critical. For example, if the time is too long, the solvent may evaporate, making it impossible to produce an electrospray

after applying voltage. However, if it is too short, the analytes might not have enough time to be desorbed from the coating, which could impact the sensitivity. To evaluate the effect of desorption time, first extractions were performed with the blades. For this purpose, the blades were immersed in 1.5 mL of synthetic urine (pH 6.4) containing 500.0 ng/mL of mixed analyte and the extraction was performed for 5 min at 1000 rpm. Following the extraction, blades were washed in 1.5 mL of water for 2 seconds. The effect of desorption time was investigated in three replicates using three time points, namely, 15 s, 30 s, and 15 s with 10.0 μ L fresh desorption solution added again after drying of the first 10.0 μ L of desorption solution (ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v)) with 0.1% F.A.

2.7.4 Comparison of HLB-SCX and hydrolyzed PAN as CBS-MS coating

HLB-SCX modified with strong cation exchange groups was synthesized as described by Lendor, then 0.400 g of PAN was dissolved in 3.6 g of DMF and 0.21 g of HLB-SCX was added to this solution to prepare the electrospinning mixture [102]. After optimization the electrospinning conditions for this slurry, the CBS blades were coated. Coating parameters were as follows: applied voltage was 10 kV, needle-to-blade distance was 15 cm, and feed rate was 1.0 mL/h. In sorption studies, hydrolyzed PAN and HLB-SCX-coated CBS blades prepared at the same thickness were used and the extraction performances of these blades were compared. For this purpose, during the extraction process, the blades were immersed in 1.5 mL of synthetic urine (pH 6.4) containing 250.0 ng/mL mixed analyte and the extraction was performed for 5 minutes at 1000 rpm. Following the quick rinsing step CBS-MS analyses were performed with the conditions described for hydrolyzed PAN coated CBS-MS.

2.8 Validation studies

Linearity, limit of quantification (LOQ), repeatability (in terms of %RSD) and accuracy (in terms of %RE) studies for method validation were carried out according to the bioanalytical method development and validation standards given in the 'Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry' (FDA, Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry, 2018) guide published by the FDA. In a typical experiment, before extraction, the PAN-coated blades were preconditioned in 1.5 mL of methanol/water (50/50, v/v) for 30 minutes without mixing in such a way that the coating was completely submerged. Preconditioned blades were then quickly washed with distilled water (1.5 mL) and then immersed into 1.5 mL of synthetic urine solution spiked with of all analytes (serotonin, phenylalanine, tryptophan, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid). The extractions were performed for 5 min using 1000 rpm as agitation speed. Following that, the extracted analytes were detected using CBS-MS after fixing the CBS blades at a preoptimized distance in front of the MS. For desorption 10.0 µL of desorption solution $(ACN/MeOH/H_2O (40:40:20; v/v/v))$ with 0.1% F.A. was pipetted on the surface of CBS and after 15 s 4.5 kV voltage was applied on the blade. The chronogram was collected for 45 s in SIM mode. Nicotine was used as internal standard for all analytes. 250.0 ng/mL of nicotine was spiked into the synthetic urine solution.

2.8.1 Linearity and limit of quantification (LOQ)

Linear operating range of the method for each analyte was determined by CBS-MS using matrix-similar synthetic urine standard solutions. Eight different concentrations of samples (50.0, 100.0, 150.0, 250.0, 500.0, 750.0, 1000.0, and 1500.0 ng/mL) were prepared in 3 replicates for the linearity studies. The FDA's "Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry" (FDA, Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry, 2018) handbook describes how to determine the limit of quantification (LOQ) for the bioanalytical method

development and validation standard. Based on this guideline, first, the nominal concentrations of the calibration points were back calculated using the acquired linear regression equation. Then, the LOQ values were determined as the lowest point providing maximum of 20% relative error in the back calculations.

2.8.2 Repeatability

The repeatability of the method was tested with 3 replicate analyzes for three QC levels using low, medium, and high concentrations that could be found in the linear operating range. Method repeatability was studied as intraday (three separate analyzes with three replicates in one day) and inter-day (analysis with three replicates on three different days).

2.8.3 Accuracy

Intraday accuracy was analyzed with low, medium, and high concentrations that can be found in the linear operating range and in 3 replicates for each level. Method accuracy was determined as percent relative error (%RE) by intraday (three analyzes in one day) and interday (three different days) studies.

2.8.4 Comparison of SPE-LC-MS and CBS-MS

The developed CBS-MS method was compared with the SPE, which was chosen as the reference method. Comparison of the method was performed using blind analysis of a sample. Concentration of the unknown sample was determined in CBS-MS mode by matrix-matched SPME calibration under conditions developed in method optimization for CBS-MS. As suggested by the producer's guide, cartridges were conditioned with 5.0 mL of methanol/water (50/50, v/v), then washed with 2.5 mL of water. As a next step, 5.0 mL (half-half diluted with water) sample was loaded into the cartridge. After sorption, washing was done with 2.5 mL of water and finished with elution of analytes with 2.5 mL of ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. Concentration of the SPE eluate was determined after analysis of the eluent and standard calibration solutions in LC-MS using the HILIC method.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 CBS-MS optimizations

The coated blade spray was used as an extractive probe and electrospray source for analysis of polar analytes with mass spectrometry. Various parameters were investigated to obtain the best sensitivity from the CBS-MS system with repeatable results. The effect of various parameters on the signal was discussed in Chapter 2 (Section 2.7). Table 3.1 shows the optimized CBS-MS conditions. As an example, chronograms obtained during optimization of the voltage applied by the external voltage source is given in Appendix A in Figure A.3. As the external voltage increases, the signal increases. Under 3 kV, a sufficient signal could not be received. The best signal was obtained at 4.5 kV.

Table 3.1 CBS-MS conditions

Parameter	Settings
Ionization mode	CBS-MS
Polarity	Positive
Fragmentor voltage	110 V
Gas temperature	300 °C
Drying gas flow	1.0 L/min
Capillary Voltage	3000 V
Nebulizer pressure	700 Torr
External source voltage	4.5 kV

3.2 Preparation of polar CBS blades

Since each polymer has different moiety, it also has a different solubility in water. For example, PAN is insoluble in water, while PVP and PVA are highly soluble in water. However, any polymer to be considered as extractive phase should be insoluble in water. For this reason, PVP and PVA were crosslinked under various conditions described in Section 2.5, while PAN was modified with ion weak cation exchange (carboxylic acid) groups and weak anion exchange (amide) groups to have higher affinity for polar analytes. This section summarized the results obtained in preparation of electrospun materials, their hydrolysis and crosslinking optimizations and characterization results.

3.2.1 PAN as extractive phase for CBS

As mentioned before, the extractive property of the PAN polymer is quite low; therefore, the obtained polymers must be functionalized with amide groups and carboxylic acid groups in order to be used as an extractive phase. Studies with PAN progressed in two phases: (1) electrospinning of PAN and (2) hydrolysis of electrospun PAN to weak cation exchange polymer.

3.2.1.1 Electrospinning of PAN

Scanning electron microscope (SEM) images of electrospun PAN showed that nanofibers of different thicknesses were obtained at different applied voltages, distances, and flow rates. The representative images of electrospun PAN fibers under various conditions are given as inset in Table 3.2. According to the results shown as micrographs, the voltage has significant effect on the fiber diameter. For instance, the fiber diameter is ca. 200 nm at 14.0 kV and 800 nm at 20.0 kV. During this process the concentrated electric field at the needle tip generates multiple electrospinning jets on the grounded plate. However, the needle's input charges are shared among the multiple jets, reducing electrostatic forces stretching the fiber and resulting in a larger average fiber diameter. This also improves the distribution of fiber diameters in the collected fibers. Thus, the increase in voltage results in larger fiber diameters. Another parameter that affects the fiber thickness is the solution flow rate. Fiber diameter increased with increasing flow rate from 0.4 mL/h to 2.4 mL/h. Optimum conditions for PAN electrospinning were determined as applied voltage 20 kV, the distance between the needle tip and collector 21 cm, and flow rate 2.4 mL/h.

Sample	Parameters	SEM image	Results
1	Polymer: 10% PAN Solvent: DMF Voltage: 14 kV Distance: 15cm Flow rate: 2.4 mL/h	11/24/2020 det HW mag spot WD 932 19 AM ED 200 AV 50 000 x 40 110 hm METU CENTRAL LAB	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 173-328 nm.
2	Polymer: 10% PAN Solvent: DMF Voltage: 20 kV Distance: 21 cm Flow rate: 2.4 mL/h	11/24/2020 Get HW mag spot WD2 jm	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 697-830 nm.

Table 3.2 Electrospun PAN fibers obtained under various electrospinning conditions

Table 3.2 (cont'd)



3.2.1.2 Hydrolysis of electrospun PAN

Electrospun PAN was hydrolyzed with 0.5 M, 2.0 M and 5.0 M NaOH solutions as described in Section 2.5.1.2. The obtained SEM images (Table 3.3) for hydrolyzed electrospun PAN showed that the surface of PAN become rougher as the hydrolysis time increases. This observation was more obvious when electrospun PAN fibers hydrolyzed with higher concentration of NaOH at longer time. In overall, it was found that the fiber structures were preserved reasonably well under all experimental conditions suggesting that this coating is promising for the CBS blades. PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH solutions was preferred as the extractive phase because it had better sorption in CBS-MS studies.

Sample	Parameters	SEM image	Results
1	Hydrolysis time: 1 h NaOH concentration: 0.5 M Hydrolysis temperature: 70 °C Stirring: not applied.	2020000 der W meg und W0 102211 PUI ETD 2000 V 50001 12 119 mm	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 363-454 nm.
2	Hydrolysis time: 1 h NaOH concentration: 2.0 M Hydrolysis temperature: 70 °C Stirring: 700 rpm.		Fiber diameters were found in the range of 337-392 nm.
3	Hydrolysis time: 1 h NaOH concentration: 2.0 M Hydrolysis temperature: 70 °C Stirring: not applied.	12290000 det 1 W. mgg off 1/0 299 99 PW IETD 200 W 99 000 , 30 117 mm <u>RETUCENTRAL LAB</u>	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 367-489 nm.

Table 3.3 SEM images of hydrolyzed PAN
Table 3.3 (cont'd)



3.2.1.3 FTIR spectra of PAN based coatings

The FTIR spectra of unhydrolyzed electrospun PAN and PAN hydrolyzed in 5.0 M NaOH solution for 150 min were acquired after preparation of KBr pellets containing samples of polymers. Figure 3.1 shows the FTIR spectra of electrospun PAN and electrospun PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH for 2.50 h (spectral resolution of 4 cm⁻¹). The peaks attributed to C-N stretching at 1470 cm⁻¹ and 2243 cm⁻¹ were present in both unhydrolyzed and hydrolyzed PAN. The presence of these peaks in hydrolyzed PAN indicates that the nitrile groups in PAN were only partially hydrolyzed. In a study conducted by Jin et al. [103] for hydrolysis of PAN, it has been found that the alkaline hydrolysis process occurs in two steps; first step is formation of amide and second step is formation of carboxylic acid. In current study,

the strong peak at 1561 cm⁻¹ which is only observed in hydrolyzed PAN shows the presence of amide (–CONH₂) in the hydrolyzed structure. Which suggest that in our case amide groups were also present in the final structure. As expected from the hydrolysis, carboxylic acid moieties were also formed in the polymer structure. This conversion is supported by the presence of peak of the carbonyl group in 1700 cm⁻¹. In addition, the broad OH stretching peaks at 3500-2900 cm⁻¹ support the formation of carboxylic acid as a result of the hydrolysis. Figure 3.2 shows the FTIR spectra of electrospun PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH for 2.5 hours (spectral resolution of 2 cm^{-1}).



Figure 3.1. FTIR spectra of electrospun PAN (upper spectrum) and electrospun PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH for 2.5 hours (lower spectrum) (spectral resolution of 4 cm^{-1})



Figure 3.2. FTIR spectra of electrospun PAN hydrolyzed with 5.0 M NaOH for 2.5 hours (spectral resolution of 2 cm^{-1})

3.2.2 PVP

3.2.2.1 Electrospinning of PVP

In the electrospinning experiments with PVP, the effect of the parameters given in Section 2.5.2.1 was investigated. In these experiments it was not possible to obtain electrospun fibers with 50% and 60% PVP concentrations due to high viscosity of these mixtures. The densest fibers were obtained from 30% and 20% PVP solutions; therefore, various electrospinning parameters were investigated using these two polymeric solutions. The resulting morphologies were examined by scanning electron microscope (SEM). The findings are summarized in Table 3.4. As can be seen from the micrographs given in the table, fiber diameters considerably increased as the voltage was increased from 8.5 kV to 20 kV. The feed rate had also important effect on the fiber thickness. Especially with the increase of the flow rate from 0.4 mL/h to 2.4 mL/h, the fiber diameters became quite thick. Based on the results, the

distance between the needle tip and the collector did not affect the fiber morphology as a solvent that evaporates easily was used. 20% PVP solution in ethanol, with electrospinning conditions of 0.4 mL/h flow rate, 15 cm distance, 20 kV voltage, was easily electrospinned and fibers were obtained.

Sample	Experiment Conditions	SEM image	Comments
1	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 8.5 kV Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 8 cm	11/24/2001 det MV mag Stet WD2um	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 145-296 nm. The fiber structures are smooth.
2	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 14 kV Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 8 cm	11/24/2200 det HV mag loot VD2 ym utward det loot mm2 ym utward det loot mm	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 107-226 nm.
3	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 14 kV Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 15 cm	11/24/2020 del HV mag isot W0 11/24/2020 del HV mag isot W0	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 89-237 nm.

Table 3.4 Electrospun PVP fibers obtained under various electrospinning conditions

Table 3.4 (cont'd)

4	Polymer: 20% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 20 kV Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 15 cm	No images available.	Electrospinning could be done similarly with 30% PVP.
5	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 20 kV Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 15 cm	11/24/2020 get 1/V mag ged WD2 m jul 944 53 MI ETD 2000 V (2000 X 40 (29 mm) METU CENTRAL LAB	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 148 -275 nm.
6	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 20 kV Flow rate: 2.4 mL/h Distance: 15 cm		Fiber diameters in the range of 360-476 nm found.
7	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 20 kV Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 15 cm	11/24/2020 det HV mag level WD dem 11/24/2020 det HV mag level WD dem 1059 St All ETD 2000 W JS 5000 + 40 102 mm	Fiber diameters were found in the range of 401-777 nm.

Table 3.4 (cont'd)

8	Polymer: 30% Solvent: Ethanol Voltage: 8.5 Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h Distance: 15 cm	11/24/2020 det WV mag lept W02 /m 11/24/2020 det LWV mag lept W02 /m	Fiber diameters in the range of 390-594 nm found.
---	--	---	---

3.2.2.2 Crosslinking of electrospun PVP

3.2.2.1 Crosslinking with initiator

Tertiary amine and carbonyl groups in the structure of PVP have the property of making hydrogen bonds. Thus, a good interaction between the polymer and the selected polar analytes is expected. However, as mentioned before, the most important disadvantage of PVP is its solubility in water. This feature would cause a partial or full dissolution of the coating during the use. To avoid this problem, blocking the solubility of PVP is necessary, which is possible by crosslinking the polymer. The crosslinking reaction of PVP with potassium peroxydisulfate (K₂S₂O₈) is shown in Figure 3.3 [104]. Results of the studies conducted for crosslinking the polymer using initiator are summarized in Table 3.5. The results showed that, 20% PVP and 30% PVP solutions with different ratios of initiator are not capable to block the solubility of the polymer. Since the initiator has a low solubility in ethanol, the polymeric mixture was prepared in ethanol-water solution as well. Obtained solubility results from this experiment showed that this approach was not successful to break the solubility as well. When higher PVP concentrations were tested, similar and unsuccessful results were obtained. The effect of reaction time along with the concentration was also examined, but this also failed to block the solubility of PVP.

As can be seen from the results, water-resistant electrospun fibers with the desired stability could not be obtained with this approach.



Figure 3.3. The expected crosslinking reaction of PVP with the initiator $(K_2S_2O_8)$ (Beram et al., 2018)

Sample No.	Experiment conditions	Results
1	The prepared polymer was kept in an oven (80 °C) for 1 and 2 hours. Electrospinning conditions: Polymer: 20%, Solvent: Ethanol/Water (50/50, v/v) Initiator: in 1.1×10^{-4} mol/12 g polymer solution Voltage: 20 kV, Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, Distance: 15 cm	
2	The prepared polymer was kept in an oven (80 °C) for 1 and 2 hours. Electrospinning conditions: Polymer: 40%, Solvent: water, Initiator: 18×10 ⁻⁴ mol/ 5 g in polymer solution Voltage: 20 kV, Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, Distance: 15 cm	The polymer was dissolved in a mixture of water and MeOH/H ₂ O (85:15, v/v) within 1 min.
3	The prepared polymer was kept in an oven (80 °C) for 1 and 2 hours. Electrospinning conditions: Polymer: 30%, Solvent : Ethanol/Water (50/50, v/v) Initiator: 2.4×10 ⁻⁴ mol/ in 10 g polymer solution Voltage: 20 kV, Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, Distance: 15 cm	
4	The prepared polymer was kept in an oven (80 °C) for 1 and 2 hours. Electrospinning conditions: Polymer: 30%, Solvent: Ethanol/Water (50/50, v/v) Initiator: in 24×10-4 mol/5.45 g polymer solution Voltage: 20 kV, Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, Distance: 15 cm	
5	The prepared polymer was kept in an oven (80 °C) for 1 and 2 hours. Electrospinning conditions: Polymer: 30%, Solvent: Water Initiator: in 11×10^{-4} mol/10 g polymer solution Voltage: 20 kV, Flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, Distance: 15 cm	No fiber could be produced by electrospinning.

Table 3.5 Crosslinking studies of PVP using initiator

3.2.2.2 Crosslinking of PVP using heat

A second crosslinking approach was tested in which temperature-based crosslinking was used by exposing electrospun PVP fibers to 150 °C. In order to not exceed the glass transition temperature of the polymer higher temperatures were avoided. Table 3.6 summarizes the crosslinking studies by heat treatment. The results revealed that crosslinking with temperature was effective to stop the visible solubility of the fibers and resulted in hydrogel. When the effect of the heat treatment time on crosslinking was examined by immersing the resulting mat in water and MeOH/H₂O, the results showed that a period of 6 hours provided sufficient crosslinking to stop the solubility, but the resulting product was a hydrogel. Polymer coatings that are relatively more resistant to both water and methanol were obtained over the longer trials (24 hours). However, since gel formation has been observed in each case, these polymers are not suitable for use as an extractive phase.

Table 3.6 Crosslinking of PVP using heat (Electrospinning conditions: polymer: 30%, solvent: ethanol, voltage: 20 kV, flow rate: 0.4 mL/h, distance: 15 cm)

Sample	Experiment conditions	Before immersion water	After immersion water
1	<u>Crosslinking</u> <u>conditions:</u> 150 °C/24 hours		
2	<u>Crosslinking</u> <u>conditions:</u> 150 °C/44 hours		-
3	<u>Crosslinking</u> <u>conditions:</u> 150 °C/6 hours		

3.2.2.3 Heat followed by UV crosslinking

PVP is a water-soluble and biocompatible polymer that can be crosslinked to form water insoluble PVP when exposed to UV light. Also, our results showed that it is possible to obtain PVP crosslinking at 150°C PVP, yet not perfect. The crosslinking mechanism of PVP formed by absorption of UV light was investigated by Rosa et al. and it was found that interpolymer chain bonds were formed by a radical reaction [105]. Based on this promising supporting information, the combined effect of heat and UV exposure was tested as described in Section 2.5.2.2.4 to make insoluble the PVP.

The obtained results for the tested parameters are summarized in Table 3.7. As can be seen from the SEM images given in the table; all of the coatings did survive the solubility test in water. However, the electrospun nanofibrous structure was affected. For instance, the nanofiber structure of the electrospun PVP, which was kept at 150 °C for 6 hours only, was destroyed. The fiber structure started to be protected, although not completely, in those samples crosslinked for 12 hours at 150 °C and for which UV exposure was used after the heating at 150 °C. The best results were obtained for the fibers that were kept first at 150 °C for 12 hours and then exposed to UV light for 30 minutes, according to the SEM images. Although promising results were obtained with this approach, the morphology of the fibers were not protected entirely. Therefore, PVP was not used in CBS blades for the extraction of the analytes.

Table 3.7 SEM images of PVP crosslinked with heat and UV light (Electrospinning conditions: polymer: 30%, solvent: ethanol, distance: 15 cm, voltage: 20 kV, flow rate: 0.4 mL/h)

Sample No	Experiment conditions	SEM image
1	Crosslinking conditions: 150 °C/6 h	3000021 dec MV mag Mod MO2 mm 300001 MM ETD 30.00 MV 5000001 43 43 43 43 3 mmMETU CENTRAL LAB
2	Crosslinking conditions: 150 °C/6 h 30 min UV light	3/30/2021 det HV mag spot WD2 ym 3:38:04 PM ETD [30:00 kV [50:000 x] 4:0 [12:4 mm]
3	Crosslinking conditions: 150 °C/12 h	3/32/221 det HV mag spot WD2 m

Table 3.7 (cont'd)

4 Crosslinking conditions:
150 °C/12 h
30 min UV light





Crosslinking conditions:
150 °C/h
60 min UV light

3.2.3 PVA-PVP blend as extractive phase for CBS

Citric acid shows an esterification reaction with alcohol groups in PVA [106]. This supports that it can be used as a crosslinker. Crosslinking with citric acid was tested by adding 0.10, 0.20 and 0.36 g of citric acid to the polymer solution. The water solubility test results for some parameters are summarized in Table 3.8. The findings show that the coating obtained with the citric acid crosslinker is water insoluble. The mixture containing 0.50 g (30% PVP)/1.0 g (10% PVA)/0.36 g (citric acid) was determined as the most suitable mixture because it is easily electrospun compared to the others. However, the nanofiber structure was not found in the SEM images obtained for these coatings. Moreover, very little coating could be obtained. For these reasons it was not considered further for CBS evaluations.

Based on the results summarized above for PAN, PVP and PVP-PVA, hydrolyzed PAN was selected as the most suitable extractive phase (which does not show any solubility and preserve its nanostructured morphology in aqueous environment) and used for CBS-MS studies.

Sample no	Experiment conditions	Before immersion water	After immersion water	Conclusion
1	Electrospinning solution:1.0 g 10% PVA, 0.50 g 30% PVP and 0.36 g citric acid mixed Crosslinking conditions: 130 °C/30 min			The polymer was insoluble in water.
2	Electrospinning solution: 1.0 g 10% PVA, 0.50 g 30% PVP and 0.36 g citric acid mixed Crosslinking conditions: 130 °C/120 min			The polymer was insoluble in water.
3	Electrospinning solution: 1.0 g 10% PVA, 0.50 g 30% PVP and 0.10 g citric acid mixed Crosslinking conditions: 130 °C/30 min			The polymer was insoluble in water.
4	Electrospinning solution: 1.0 g 10% PVA, 0.50 g 30% PVP and 0.20 g citric acid mixed Crosslinking conditions: 130 °C/30 min			The polymer was insoluble in water.

Table 3.8 Crosslinking of electrospun PVA-PVP with citric acid

3.3 CBS-LC-MS

3.3.1 Effect of electrospun PAN hydrolysis time on analyte sorption

The effect of the hydrolysis time of the electrospun PAN on the extraction performance of the blades was also investigated. For this purpose, PAN coated blades were hydrolyzed for 60, 120, 150, 180, 300 and 480 min. The coating on the blades of the hydrolysis times at 180, 300 and 480 minutes began to dissolve due to excessive hydrolysis and completely disappeared. Therefore, no extraction results are available for these coatings. Figure 3.4 shows the amount of analyte extracted during hydrolysis times of 60, 120 and 150 minutes. As the hydrolysis time increases, the amount of analyte extracted increases. The best extraction ability was obtained with PAN hydrolyzed for 150 minutes. A comparison between the extraction capacities of a hydrolyzed PAN coated blade and electrospun PAN showed that the extraction efficiency of hydrolyzed PAN was higher than that of PAN.



Hydrolysis Time of PAN (min)

Figure 3.4. Effect of the hydrolysis time of PAN on extraction (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 min

3.3.2 Optimization of extraction parameters

3.3.2.1 Effect of pH on the extraction of analytes

In the case of polar analytes, the pH of the solution has an effect on the ionic form of the analyte. If the analyte has acidic or basic groups at certain pHs, it will be ionic and neutral at other pHs. The pKa values of the analytes in this study were as follows: phenylalanine= 2.20, tryptophan= 2.46, serotonin= 10.16 and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid = 4.22, 8-oxo-dG= 7.86. This indicates that the pH of the sample will affect the form of the analyte present in the sample. Since the hydrolyzed PAN sorbent has weak cation exchange groups and weak anion exchange groups, the solution pH will strongly affect the sorption process. Therefore, as sample pH, solutions buffered to pH 3.0, 5.0, 7.0 and 10.0 were used to investigate the effect of pH on sorption. The results obtained for the effect of pH on the sorption of analytes are shown in Figure 3.5. According to the results, tryptophan was extracted at highest amounts at pH 10.0. while for serotonin and 8-oxo-dG the highest extractions were achieved at pH 7.0. Phenylalanine and 8-oxo-dA were better extracted at pH 7 and 10. On the other hand, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid showed relatively better sorption at pH 3.0. Tryptophan and phenylalanine have an isoelectric point (pI) of 5.89 and 5.91, respectively. Tryptophan is negatively charged in the basic environment. The sorbent is positively charged due to the anion exchange group. Therefore, tryptophan has better sorption in basic media due to a positive charge and a negative charge interaction. The driving force for the phenylalanine extraction process is mainly the hydrogen bond interaction. 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid having a carbonyl group is protonated in an acidic medium. Hydrogen bonds can exist between 5hydroxyindoleacetic acid and sorbent. Serotonin pKa is 10.16 and 8-oxo-dG pKa is 7.86. It is better extracted in a neutral medium with π - π interactions and hydrogen bonding. However, optimum conditions vary from analyte to analyte. To obtain a reasonable sensitivity for all analytes in the sample, the pH of the sample should be stabilized at a common pH, which can be chosen as pH 7.0 as it gives reasonable results for all analytes.



Figure 3.5. Effect of solution pH on sorption (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 min)

3.3.2.2 Effect of ionic strength on the extraction of analytes

In microextraction methods, one of the parameters that effect the sorption of analyte is the ionic strength. To alter the ionic strength of the sample, salts such as NaCl can be used. The added salt to the sample may have a significant effect especially for polar analytes as it decreases the analytes solubility in aqueous solution (salting out effect). Moreover, increasing the amount of salt increases the viscosity in the solution, thus causing a decrease in the mass transfer rate. In addition, the ionic strength of the urine samples may vary from person to person based on gender, hydration level, food intake; therefore, it may affect the analytical results if proper control is not taken [107]. For these reasons, it is critical to investigate the effect of ionic strength on sorption of the selected analytes. The effect of ionic strength was investigated by adding NaCl to the sample to have 0, 0.010, 0.10 and 1.0 M NaCl in the final solutions. The amount of analyte extracted without salt and with different salt concentrations added is shown in Figure 3.6. As can be seen from the results given in the figure, the extraction ability of the coating decreased significantly by increase in the salt concentration of the sample, except for 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid. The lower the salt content, the better the analytes were extracted. In the literature the salting out effect of analytes in presence of salt is reported as a method to improve the affinity of analytes towards the coating. However, the results of this study, suggested the opposite effect. This may be attributed to the nature of the sorbent as it has weak ion exchange moieties that can be saturated with salt ions, thus, decreasing the available sites for extraction of analytes.



Figure 3.6. Effect of salt amount on sorption (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 min)

3.3.2.3 Effect of extraction time on the extraction of analytes

Five different extraction times (1, 2, 5, 15 and 30 minutes) were tested to determine the extraction time profiles of analytes. Figure 3.7 shows the extraction results. Since the analytes have different molecular structures, the amount of extracted analyte varies from analyte to analyte. As can be seen from the results, the maximum sorption was reached in about 5 minutes for most of the analytes. These results support that the sorption kinetic of the new coatings is fast. In addition, after reaching the maximum sorption for all analytes, a decrease in sorption amounts was observed at longer extraction times. This was an expected result for polar analytes as they show low affinity to the coating and in the presence of other ions displacement from the surface occurs. As a result, these experimental data show that nanofiber structures may indicate fast sorption equilibrium due to the higher surface area, but at the same time a low affinity for the analytes.



Figure 3.7. Extraction time profile of analytes (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption volume 150.0 μ L, desorption time: 15 min)

3.3.2.4 Effect of desorption solvent on elution of the analytes

The desorption solvent was optimized from the extraction parameters. Solvents investigated were ACN:MeOH:H₂O (40:40:20, v/v/v) containing 0.1% formic acid, MeOH:H₂O (50:50, v/v) containing 0.1% formic acid, and MeOH:H₂O (85:15, v/v) containing 0.1% formic acid. ACN:MeOH:H₂O (40:40:20, v/v/v) containing 0.1% formic acid solvent performed better than other solvents. Figure 3.8 shows the extraction graph of the desorption solvent comparison. Based on the results, for phenylalanine and tryptophan ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. showed highest desorption amount. For serotonin, no significand difference was observing among desorbed amounts. However, ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. showed the lowest variation. Therefore, ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. was selected as the most suitable solvent among the tested.



Figure 3.8. Desorption solvent optimizations (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption volume: 150.0 μ L, desorption time: 15 min)

3.4 CBS-MS

3.4.1 Effect of desorption volume

The optimum desorption volume was investigated to obtain the best sensitivity from the CBS-MS. The desorption abilities of 5.0 μ L, 10.0 μ L, 15.0 μ L and 20.0 μ L solvents after 5 min extraction from synthetic urine were compared using CBS-MS (n=3). As mentioned before, the amount of solvent that the blade surface can carry is limited at the microliter level. Although the amount of analyte desorbed from the unit area will increase when the largest volume that can be used is selected, the analyte is diluted in the droplet. As can be seen in Figure 3.9, a volume of 10.0 μ L of desorption solvent provided the best sensitivity while a 5.0 μ L volume of desorption solvent was insufficient for the desorption of the analytes. Besides, a dilution effect was observed that reduced the concentration of solute in solution at 15.0 μ L and 20.0 μ L volumes.



Figure 3.9. Effect of solvent volume on desorption and signal (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec, desorption volume: 5.0, 10.0, 15.0 and 20.0 μ L)

3.4.2 Effect of desorption solvent

As can be seen from the above experimental results on desorption volume, very small volume of solvent is used for desorption of analytes in CBS-MS analyses. There are two main reasons for this. The first reason is that the amount of solvent that the blade surface can carry is approximately 30 μ L. In case of using too much solvent, the solvent may drip from the blade surface to the ground during the electrospray formation with the application of voltage, affecting the repeatability. Another reason is the excess solvent that can cause dilution of the analytes in the droplet, thereby reducing the sensitivity. The most important problem when working with very small amounts of solvent is that the solvent evaporates before the voltage is applied during the desorption process and no signal can be obtained. Therefore, the desorption

solvent chosen for CBS studies should provide high desorption (high desorption kinetics) in the shortest time, low evaporation during desorption, and sufficient evaporation in the gas phase. In addition, the solvent's spray efficiency at the blade's tip and the analyte's chemistry and its affinity for the desorption solvent is essential for desorption/ionization conditions. The obtained results of this study are summarized in Figure 3.10. As can be seen from the figure, MeOH/H₂O (85:15; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. produced lower signal than ACN/H₂O (85:15; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. In this study, ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. showed the highest sensitivity as the best desorption solution, while MeOH/H₂O (85:15; v/v) with 0.1% F.A. gave the weakest signal. For further studies, ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20, v/v/v)) with 0.1% F.A. was chosen as the solvent.



Figure 3.10. Desorption solvent optimizations (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec, desorption volume: 10.0 μ L)

3.4.3 Effect of desorption time

As described at the beginning of this section, the desorption volumes available for CBS-MS are quite small (10.0 μ L in this study) and therefore the solvent evaporates quickly from the surface of the CBS. This shows that sorbents with fast desorption kinetics should be used, and desorption should be completed as soon as possible. In this section, studies have been carried out to determine the time that provides maximum analyte desorption in the shortest possible time. Therefore, the desorption time has been optimized for the best sensitivity. After 5 minutes of extraction from synthetic urine, three methods of desorption were tested, and their results are given in Figure 3.11. The first one was 15 seconds of desorption with 10.0 μ L of desorption solution. And then the third one was 10.0 μ L of desorption solution, let to be dried and then a fresh 10.0 μ L of desorption solution was placed and kept for 15 seconds before the voltage application. The first method used provided the best signal intensity. The second and third methods provided lower signals for all the analytes.



Figure 3.11. Optimization of desorption time (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, analyte concentration: 500.0 ng/mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption volume 10.0 μ L)

3.4.4 Comparison of HLB-SCX and hydrolyzed PAN as CBS-MS coating

Hydrophilic and lipophilic balanced HLB polymer with good sorption affinity for polar and nonpolar analytes was synthesized in the laboratory and functionalized with strong cation exchange groups (HLB-SCX). The electrospun HLB-SCX-PAN blades were prepared and compared with hydrolyzed PAN coated blades. The experimental conditions studied are summarized in Section 2.7.4. The results shown in Figure 3.12 show that hydrolyzed PAN containing weak ion exchange groups (weak cation exchange groups and weak anion exchange groups) has better extraction capacity than HLB-SCX-PAN for the selected analytes.



Figure 3.12. Comparison of hydrolyzed PAN and SCX-HLB-PAN coated CBS blades (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec, desorption volume: 10.0 μ L)

3.5 Validation studies

Linearity, limit of quantification (LOQ), repeatability and accuracy studies for method validation were carried out according to the bioanalytical method development and validation standard in the 'Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry' (FDA, Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry, 2018) guidance published by the FDA [108]. The experimental parameters used are given in Section 2.8 and obtained results are given below.

3.5.1 Linearity and limit of quantification (LOQ)

CBS-MS with matrix-matched synthetic urine standard solutions were used to determine the LOQ and linear range as the initial step of validation. For linearity studies, samples at 8 different concentrations were prepared in 3 replicates and the samples were used to calculate the linear range of the method. The expected coefficient of determination (R²) values for the analyzed range are higher than 0.99. The LOQ for indole was calculated as 100.0 ng/mL, while the LOQ for tryptophan, serotonin, 8-oxo-dA, 8-oxo-dG and phenylalanine was determined as 50.0 ng/mL. The calibration graphs obtained are shown in Figure 3.13.



Figure 3.13. CBS-MS calibration graphs obtained for polar analytes (Extraction conditions; sample volume: 1.5 mL, desorption solvent: ACN:MeOH:H₂O (2:2:1, v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A., desorption time: 15 sec, desorption volume: 10.0 µL)

3.5.2 Repeatability

For the repeatability studies of the method, low, medium, and high concentrations that can be found in the linear operating range were determined and tested with 3 repetitive analyzes for each level. Method repeatability was studied as intraday (three

different analyzes with three replicates in one day) and inter-day (analysis with three replicates on three different days). The results obtained for intra-day and inter-day repeatability are shown in Table 3.9 and Table 3.10, respectively. As can be seen from these tables, the method showed a generally acceptable (<15%) repeatability for all analytes. In some cases, repeatability resulted in the 15-20% range. Nicotine was used as an internal standard in CBS-MS studies. For better repeatability, isotope-labelled internal standards of each analyte should be used.

	P	Percent relative standard deviation				
		(%RSD)				
	Low level	Intermediate level	High level			
Analyte	300.0 ng/ mL	600.0 ng/ mL	1200.0 ng/ mL			
Tryptophan	11.6	5.1	5.0			
Phenylalanine	18.4	17.7	9.9			
Serotonin	11.5	7.4	7.1			
8-oxo-dA	9.7	18.6	10.4			
8-oxo-dG	10.3	13.9	12.1			
5-HIAA	13.6	10.1	8.4			

Table 3.9 Intra-day repeatability values

Table 3.10 Inter-day repeatability values

	Percent relative standard deviation			
		(%RSD)		
Analyte	Low level	Intermediate level	High level	
	300.0 ng/ mL	600.0 ng/ mL	1200.0 ng/ mL	
Tryptophan	17.6	14.6	12.6	
Phenylalanine	15.9	14.2	10.5	
Serotonin	19.5	13.7	8.8	
8-oxo-dA	11.3	12.1	14.5	
8-oxo-dG	11.6	17.6	7.1	
5-HIAA	6.19	11.8	12.5	

3.5.3 Accuracy

Intraday accuracy was determined as low, medium, and high concentrations that could be found in the linear range and analyzed in 3 replicates for each level. Method accuracy was determined as relative error (%RE) by intra-day (three analyzes in one day) and inter-day (three separate days) studies. The results obtained for intra-day and inter-day accuracy are given in Table 3.11 and Table 3.12, respectively. As shown in the tables, all analytes show a generally acceptable (15%) relative error. In some cases, it gave a relative error of 15-25% in the results. In this study, nicotine was used as the internal standard for all analytes, and better results are possible with stable isotope-labelling internal standards.

-	% Relative error				
(%RE)					
Analyte	Low level	Intermediate level	High level		
	300.0 ng/mL	600.0 ng/mL	1200.0 ng/mL		
Tryptophan	0.6	1.3	3.2		
Phenylalanine	21.4	6.4	3.1		
Serotonin	9.9	11.2	12.1		
8-oxo-dA	17.1	8.5	3.7		
8-oxo-dG	5.1	2.8	6.5		
5-HIAA	8.4	26.8	13.6		

Table 3.11 Inter-day accuracy (relative error)

	(%RE)			
Analyte	Low level	Intermediate level	High level	
	300.0 ng/mL	600.0 ng/mL	1200.0 ng/mL	
Tryptophan	9.8	6.7	4.1	
Phenylalanine	8.6	23.3	13.6	
Serotonin	11.7	1.9	6.6	
8-oxo-dA	14.6	7.2	8.4	
8-oxo-dG	3.9	2.8	17.1	
5-HIAA	12.8	8.9	9.4	

Table 3.12 intra-day accuracy (percent relative error)

3.5.4 Comparison of SPE-LC-MS and CBS-MS

The developed CBS-MS method was compared with the SPE as the reference method as described in Section 2.8 using blind analysis approach. In case of SPE, the desorption solvent obtained after extraction of the sample was analyzed in LC-MS and the analytes present in it quantified with instrumental calibration. For CBS-MS, the concentration of the analytes in the unknown sample was determined by matrix-matched SPME calibration under conditions developed in method optimization for CBS-MS. The results obtained from these experiments are given in Table 3.13. In case of CBS-MS, the obtained results were very close to the true value for all analytes. This supports the reliability of the developed method. Because SPE did not show exhaustive sorption under the working conditions applied here, it resulted in a very high error for all analytes when evaluated by direct instrument calibration. However, it should be kept in mind that, similar to CBS-MS, matrix matched calibration can be also prepared for SPE to obtain more accurate results. In fact, the SPE results obtained here, clearly shows the importance of the investigation of breakthrough volume of SPE prior to sampling, to ensure exhaustive extraction of the analytes which is the condition that do not require matrix matched calibration for reliable results.

Analyte	SPE-LC-MS		CBS-MS	
	ng / mL	% RE	ng / mL	% RE
Tryptophan	115.4	61.5	286.7	4.4
Phenylalanine	21.1	92.9	267.9	10.7
Serotonin	6.5	97.8	265.6	11.4
8-oxo-dA	107.9	64.1	276.9	7.7
8-oxo-dG	106.7	64.4	271.9	9.3
5-HIAA	100.2	66.6	236.4	21.1

Table 3.13 Comparison of SPE and CBS in the unknown sample (actual value 300.0 ng/ mL)

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSION

In this thesis, new electrospun extractive phases were prepared for coated blade spray (CBS) and an analytical method was developed to determine clinically significant polar urinary metabolites.

The polymers tested to obtain polar CBS coatings were PAN, PVP and PVP/PVA. Electrospinning with all three polymers was successful and nanostructured materials were obtained. PVP and PVA are water-soluble polymers. Therefore, their solubility in water should be prevented before their use as a sorbent. For this reason, polymer crosslinking experiments were carried out and the following results were obtained.

For PVP, crosslinking experiments were made with UV, heat and $K_2S_2O_8$, and only those made with the heat were relatively successful. For the PVP/PVA mixture, crosslinking experiments were carried out with citric acid. Although insoluble coatings were obtained in crosslinking with citric acid, nanostructured morphologies were not observed. These polymers were not used in CBS-MS studies as they did not satisfy the criteria of being insoluble with nonofibrous polymer morphology.

The third polymer tested was PAN. Although this polymer does not have water solubility, its sorption property is also very low. Fortunately, nitrile groups in its structure can be easily hydrolyzed and converted into ion exchange groups. Therefore, to introduce ion exchange groups to PAN, hydrolysis of PAN in alkaline media was carried out. The hydrolysis time was optimized for this modification and the most successful values were obtained for PAN incubated in 5.0 M NaOH at 70 °C for 180 minutes. It was observed that the degree of hydrolysis increased for longer hydrolysis periods, but at the same time these conditions made PAN water soluble.

In this study, the hydrolyzed PAN coated CBS probes were coupled to a single quadrupole MS and optimized for rapid analysis. The studies conducted to optimize the CBS-MS coupling showed that an external voltage source is required to obtain stable electrospray. Optimizations for using the CBS probe as the ESI source showed that the best distance between the MS input and the blade tip was 1.0 cm. Arc flashing was observed at shorter distances, while the signal decreased or could not be received at longer distances. In addition, it was found that electrospray could not be obtained below 3.0 kV while 4.5 kV gave the highest signal.

Polar analytes, 8-oxo-dG, 8-oxo-dA, serotonin, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid, phenylalanine, and tryptophan, which were determined as biomarkers in various cancer types, were used as model analytes for optimization of extraction conditions and CBS-MS analysis conditions.

Extraction performances of CBS blades were determined in LC-MS by studying sample ion strength, pH, and extraction time. It was concluded that the selected analytes were significantly affected by the ionic strength and pH of the sample, and the effect could be an increase or decrease in sorption depending on the physicochemical properties of the analyte. This strongly suggest that in future when the method is used for real application, matrix normalization (for quantitation with matrix matched calibration) is necessary. Alternately, standard addition approach can be also used for reliable analyses. Moreover, in these optimizations, it was observed that the sorption kinetics were quite fast, as expected from the nanostructured sorbent, and equilibrium was reached in about 5 minutes of sorption time.

In CBS-MS studies, the instrumental response was optimized by studying the desorption time, desorption solvent type and volume, and optimum analysis conditions were determined. The sample volume in CBS-MS studies plays critical role as very small volumes may evaporate quickly from the surface and large volumes may results in excessive dilution of analytes. The method conditions obtained after optimizations with hydrolyzed PAN-CBS blades can be summarized
as follows. The best signal stability and intensity was obtained when 15 seconds was used as the desorption time, 10.0 μ L was used as solvent volume, and ACN/MeOH/H₂O (40:40:20; v/v/v) with 0.1% F.A. was used as desorption solution.

In conclusion, with the developed CBS-MS method the sample preparation and analysis can be completed in 6 minutes. This supports that the method is suitable for rapid diagnostic studies. The limits of quantification of the final method for 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid was 100.0 ng/mL, while it was 50.0 ng/mL for the rest of the analytes with RSD% within 15-20% and 'RE within a range of 15-25%, showing the reliability of the developed method.

REFERENCES

- [1] A. Khaled, G. A. Gómez-Ríos, and J. Pawliszyn, "Optimization of Coated Blade Spray for Rapid Screening and Quantitation of 105 Veterinary Drugs in Biological Tissue Samples," *Anal Chem*, vol. 92, no. 8, pp. 5937–5943, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.0c00093.
- [2] Z. Takats, N. Strittmatter, and J. S. McKenzie, "Ambient Mass Spectrometry in Cancer Research," in *Advances in Cancer Research*, vol. 134, Academic Press Inc., 2017, pp. 231–256, doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2016.11.011.
- [3] Boyacı, E., Bojko, B., Reyes-Garcés, N., Poole, J. J., Gómez-Ríos, G. A., Teixeira, A., & Pawliszyn, J. (2018). High-throughput analysis using nondepletive SPME: challenges and applications to the determination of free and total concentrations in small sample volumes. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 1167, doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19313-1.
- [4] V. Bessonneau, E. Boyaci, M. Maciazek-Jurczyk, and J. Pawliszyn, "In vivo solid phase microextraction sampling of human saliva for non-invasive and on-site monitoring," *Anal Chim Acta*, vol. 856, pp. 35–45, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.aca.2014.11.029
- [5] Bogusiewicz, J., Gaca-Tabaszewska, M., Olszówka, D., Jaroch, K., Furtak, J., Harat, M., & Bojko, B. (2022). Coated Blade Spray-Mass Spectrometry as a New Approach for the Rapid Characterization of Brain Tumors. Molecules, 27(7), 2251, doi: 10.3390/molecules27072251.
- [6] G. Gomez, R. Cody, A. P. Bush, and D. S. Bell, "Food Sample Identification via Coated Blade Spray High Resolution Mass Spectrometry," *Anal Chem*, vol. 91, no. 20, pp. 13039–13046, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.9b03225.

- [7] Ho, C. S., Lam, C. W. K., Chan, M. H., Cheung, R. C. K., Law, L. K., Lit,
 L. C. W., ... & Tai, H. (2003). Electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry:
 principles and clinical applications. The Clinical Biochemist Reviews, 24(1),
 3.
- [8] G. M. H. Meesters, P. H. W. Vercoulen, J. C. M. Marijnissen, and B. Scarlett, "Generation of micron-sized droplets from the Taylor cone," *J Aerosol Sci*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 37–49, Jan. 1992, doi: 10.1016/0021-8502(92)90316-N.
- [9] J. Xue, T. Wu, Y. Dai, and Y. Xia, "Electrospinning and electrospun nanofibers: Methods, materials, and applications," *Chemical Reviews*, vol. 119, no. 8. American Chemical Society, pp. 5298–5415, Apr. 24, 2019. doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00593.
- [10] Alberici, R. M., Simas, R. C., Sanvido, G. B., Romão, W., Lalli, P. M., Benassi, M., & Eberlin, M. N. (2010). Ambient mass spectrometry: bringing MS into the "real world". Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry, 398, 265-294, doi: 10.1007/s00216-010-3808-3.
- [11] Cooks, R. G., Ouyang, Z., Takats, Z., & Wiseman, J. M. (2006). Ambient mass spectrometry. Science, 311(5767), 1566-1570, doi: 10.1126/science.1119426.
- [12] M. L. Musteata, F. M. Musteata, and J. Pawliszyn, "Biocompatible solidphase microextraction coatings based on polyacrylonitrile and solid-phase extraction phases," *Anal Chem*, vol. 79, no. 18, pp. 6903–6911, Sep. 2007, doi: 10.1021/ac070296s.
- [13] Gomez-Rios, G. A., Liu, C., Tascon, M., Reyes-Garcés, N., Arnold, D. W., Covey, T. R., & Pawliszyn, J. (2017). Open port probe sampling interface for the direct coupling of biocompatible solid-phase microextraction to atmospheric pressure ionization mass spectrometry. Analytical chemistry, 89(7), 3805-3809, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.6b04737

- [14] F. S. Mirnaghi, Y. Chen, L. M. Sidisky, and J. Pawliszyn, "Optimization of the coating procedure for a high-throughput 96-blade solid phase microextraction system coupled with LC-MS/MS for analysis of complex samples," *Anal Chem*, vol. 83, no. 15, pp. 6018–6025, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1021/ac2010185.
- [15] Fatou, B., Saudemont, P., Leblanc, E., Vinatier, D., Mesdag, V., Wisztorski,
 M., & Fournier, I. (2016). In vivo real-time mass spectrometry for guided
 surgery application. Scientific reports, 6(1), 25919, doi: 10.1038/srep25919.
- F. Ahmadi, C. Sparham, E. Boyacı, and J. Pawliszyn, "Time Weighted Average Concentration Monitoring Based on Thin Film Solid Phase Microextraction," *Environmental Science & Comp. Technology*, vol. 51, no. 7, pp. 3929–3937, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.6b06465.
- [17] J. H. Gross, "Direct analysis in real time-a critical review on DART-MS," *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, vol. 406, no. 1. Springer Verlag, pp. 63–80, Jan. 01, 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00216-013-7316-0.
- [18] E. Sisco and T. P. Forbes, "Forensic applications of DART-MS: A review of recent literature," *Forensic Chemistry*, vol. 22. Elsevier B.V., Mar. 01, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.forc.2020.100294.
- [19] M. J. Pavlovich, B. Musselman, and A. B. Hall, "Direct analysis in real time—Mass spectrometry (DART-MS) in forensic and security applications," *Mass Spectrometry Reviews*, vol. 37, no. 2. John Wiley and Sons Inc., pp. 171–187, Mar. 01, 2018. doi: 10.1002/mas.21509.
- [20] E. Sisco and T. P. Forbes, "Forensic applications of DART-MS: A review of recent literature," *Forensic Chemistry*, vol. 22, p. 100294, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.FORC.2020.100294.
- [21] M. Morelato, A. Beavis, P. Kirkbride, and C. Roux, "Forensic applications of desorption electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry (DESI-MS),"

Forensic Science International, vol. 226, no. 1–3. pp. 10–21, Mar. 10, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2013.01.011.

- [22] Z. Miao and H. Chen, "Direct Analysis of Liquid Samples by Desorption Electrospray Ionization-Mass Spectrometry (DESI-MS)," *J Am Soc Mass Spectrom*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 10–19, Jan. 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.jasms.2008.09.023.
- [23] L.-H. Li, H.-Y. Hsieh, and C.-C. Hsu, "Clinical Application of Ambient Ionization Mass Spectrometry," *Mass Spectrometry*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. S0060–S0060, 2017, doi: 10.5702/massspectrometry.s0060.
- [24] K. D. Duncan, H. M. Bergman, and I. Lanekoff, "A pneumatically assisted nanospray desorption electrospray ionization source for increased solvent versatility and enhanced metabolite detection from tissue," *Analyst*, vol. 142, no. 18, pp. 3424–3431, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.1039/c7an00901a.
- [25] Arentz, G., Mittal, P., Zhang, C., Ho, Y. Y., Briggs, M., Winderbaum, L., & Hoffmann, P. (2017). Applications of mass spectrometry imaging to cancer. Advances in cancer research, 134, 27-66, doi: 10.1016/bs.acr.2016.11.002.
- [26] Z. Takáts, J. M. Wiseman, and R. G. Cooks, "Ambient mass spectrometry using desorption electrospray ionization (DESI): Instrumentation, mechanisms and applications in forensics, chemistry, and biology," *Journal* of Mass Spectrometry, vol. 40, no. 10. pp. 1261–1275, Oct. 2005. doi: 10.1002/jms.922.
- [27] Wang, H., Manicke, N. E., Yang, Q., Zheng, L., Shi, R., Cooks, R. G., & Ouyang, Z. (2011). Direct analysis of biological tissue by paper spray mass spectrometry. Analytical chemistry, 83(4), 1197–1201, doi: 10.1021/ac103150a.
- [28] L. Shen, J. Zhang, Q. Yang, N. E. Manicke, and Z. Ouyang, "High throughput paper spray mass spectrometry analysis," *Clinica Chimica Acta*, vol. 420, pp. 28–33, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2012.10.025.

- [29] T. M. H. Nguyen, W. Y. Song, and T. Y. Kim, "Characterization of Spray Modes and Factors Affecting the Ionization Efficiency of Paper Spray Ionization," *Front Chem*, vol. 10, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.3389/fchem.2022.864184.
- [30] St John, E. R., Balog, J., McKenzie, J. S., Rossi, M., Covington, A., Muirhead, L. & Leff, D. R. (2017). Rapid evaporative ionisation mass spectrometry of electrosurgical vapours for the identification of breast pathology: towards an intelligent knife for breast cancer surgery. Breast Cancer Research, 19(1), 1-14, doi: 10.1186/s13058-017-0845-2.
- [31] Song, G., Zhang, M., Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Li, S., Dai, Z., & Shen, Q.
 (2019). In situ method for real-time discriminating salmon and rainbow trout without sample preparation using iKnife and rapid evaporative ionization mass spectrometry-based lipidomics. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 67(16), 4679-4688, doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.9b00751.
- [32] Zhang, J., Rector, J., Lin, J. Q., Young, J. H., Sans, M., Katta, N., & Eberlin, L. S. (2017). Nondestructive tissue analysis for ex vivo and in vivo cancer diagnosis using a handheld mass spectrometry system. Science translational medicine, 9(406), eaan3968, doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan3968.
- [33] Keating, M. F., Zhang, J., Feider, C. L., Retailleau, S., Reid, R., Antaris, A., & Eberlin, L. S. (2020). Integrating the MasSpec Pen to the da Vinci surgical system for in vivo tissue analysis during a robotic assisted porcine surgery. Analytical Chemistry, 92(17), 11535-11542, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.0c02037.
- [34] E. R. St John, M. Rossi, P. Pruski, A. Darzi, and Z. Takats, "Intraoperative tissue identification by mass spectrometric technologies," *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 85. Elsevier B.V., pp. 2–9, Dec. 01, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.trac.2016.05.003.

- [35] G. A. Gómez-Ríos and J. Pawliszyn, "Development of Coated Blade Spray Ionization Mass Spectrometry for the Quantitation of Target Analytes Present in Complex Matrices," *Angewandte Chemie*, vol. 126, no. 52, pp. 14731–14735, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1002/ange.201407057.
- [36] G. A. Gómez-Ríos, M. Tascon, N. Reyes-Garcés, E. Boyacl, J. Poole, and J. Pawliszyn, "Quantitative analysis of biofluid spots by coated blade spray mass spectrometry, a new approach to rapid screening," *Sci Rep*, vol. 7, no. 1, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16494-z.
- [37] A. Khaled, G. A. Gómez-Ríos, and J. Pawliszyn, "Optimization of Coated Blade Spray for Rapid Screening and Quantitation of 105 Veterinary Drugs in Biological Tissue Samples," *Anal Chem*, vol. 92, no. 8, pp. 5937–5943, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.0c00093.
- [38] M. Tascon, G. A. Gómez-Ríos, N. Reyes-Garcés, J. Poole, E. Boyacl, and J. Pawliszyn, "High-Throughput Screening and Quantitation of Target Compounds in Biofluids by Coated Blade Spray-Mass Spectrometry," *Anal Chem*, vol. 89, no. 16, pp. 8421–8428, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.7b01877.
- [39] M. Tascon, G. A. Gómez-Ríos, N. Reyes-Garcés, J. Poole, E. Boyacı, and J. Pawliszyn, "Ultra-fast quantitation of voriconazole in human plasma by coated blade spray mass spectrometry," *J Pharm Biomed Anal*, vol. 144, pp. 106–111, Sep. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.jpba.2017.03.009.
- [40] G. A. Gómez-Ríos and J. Pawliszyn, "Development of Coated Blade Spray Ionization Mass Spectrometry for the Quantitation of Target Analytes Present in Complex Matrices," *Angewandte Chemie*, vol. 126, no. 52, pp. 14731–14735, Dec. 2014, doi: 10.1002/ange.201407057.
- [41] A. Kasperkiewicz, G. Augusto Gómez-Ríos, D. Hein, and J. Pawliszyn,"Breaching the 10 Second Barrier of Total Analysis Time for Complex

Matrices via Automated Coated Blade Spray," *Anal Chem*, vol. 91, no. 20, pp. 13039–13046, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.9b03225.

- [42] G. A. Gómez-Ríos, M. Tascon, N. Reyes-Garcés, E. Boyacı, J. J. Poole, and J. Pawliszyn, "Rapid determination of immunosuppressive drug concentrations in whole blood by coated blade spray-tandem mass spectrometry (CBS-MS/MS)," *Anal Chim Acta*, vol. 999, pp. 69–75, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.ACA.2017.10.016.
- [43] G. A. Gómez-Ríos, M. Tascon, N. Reyes-Garcés, E. Boyacl, J. Poole, and J. Pawliszyn, "Quantitative analysis of biofluid spots by coated blade spray mass spectrometry, a new approach to rapid screening," *Sci Rep*, vol. 7, no. 1, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16494-z.
- [44] K. Deventer, O. J. Pozo, A. G. Verstraete, and P. van Eenoo, "Dilute-andshoot-liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry for urine analysis in doping control and analytical toxicology," *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 55, pp. 1–13, Mar. 2014, doi: 10.1016/J.TRAC.2013.10.012.
- [45] Thevis, M., Thomas, A., & Schänzer, W. (2011). Current role of LC-MS (/MS) in doping control. Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry, 401, 405-420, doi: 10.1007/s00216-011-4859-9.
- [46] Burgess, R. R. (2009). Protein precipitation techniques. Methods in enzymology, 463, 331-342, doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(09)63020-2.
- [47] Cantwell, F. F., & Losier, M. (2002). Liquid—liquid extraction. In Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry (Vol. 37, pp. 297-340). Elsevier, doi: 10.1016/S0166-526X(02)80048-4.
- [48] C. I. C. Silvestre, J. L. M. Santos, J. L. F. C. Lima, and E. A. G. Zagatto, "Liquid–liquid extraction in flow analysis: A critical review," *Anal Chim Acta*, vol. 652, no. 1–2, pp. 54–65, Oct. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.ACA.2009.05.042.

- [49] B. Buszewski and M. Szultka, "Past, Present, and Future of Solid Phase Extraction: A Review," *Crit Rev Anal Chem*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 198–213, Jul. 2012, doi: 10.1080/07373937.2011.645413.
- [50] Pawliszyn, J. (Ed.). (2011). Handbook of solid phase microextraction. Elsevier.
- [51] Arthur, C. L., & Pawliszyn, J. (1990). Solid phase microextraction with thermal desorption using fused silica optical fibers. Analytical chemistry, 62(19), 2145-2148, doi: 10.1021/ac00218a019.
- [52] Górecki, T., Martos, P., & Pawliszyn, J. (1998). Strategies for the analysis of polar solvents in liquid matrixes. Analytical Chemistry, 70(1), 19-27, doi: 10.1021/ac9703515.
- [53] R. Jiang and J. Pawliszyn, "Thin-film microextraction offers another geometry for solid-phase microextraction," *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 39, pp. 245–253, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1016/J.TRAC.2012.07.005.
- [54] I. Bruheim, X. Liu, and J. Pawliszyn, "Thin-Film Microextraction," Anal Chem, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 1002–1010, Jan. 2003, doi: 10.1021/ac026162q.
- [55] Y. A. Olcer, M. Tascon, A. E. Eroglu, and E. Boyacı, "Thin film microextraction: Towards faster and more sensitive microextraction," *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 113, pp. 93–101, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1016/J.TRAC.2019.01.022.
- [56] F. S. Mirnaghi, Y. Chen, L. M. Sidisky, and J. Pawliszyn, "Optimization of the coating procedure for a high-throughput 96-blade solid phase microextraction system coupled with LC-MS/MS for analysis of complex samples," *Anal Chem*, vol. 83, no. 15, pp. 6018–6025, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1021/ac2010185.

- [57] M. O. Aziz-Zanjani and A. Mehdinia, "A review on procedures for the preparation of coatings for solid phase microextraction," *Microchimica Acta*, vol. 181, no. 11–12. Springer-Verlag Wien, pp. 1169–1190, 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00604-014-1265-y.
- [58] J. Xue, J. Xie, W. Liu, and Y. Xia, "Electrospun Nanofibers: New Concepts, Materials, and Applications," *Acc Chem Res*, vol. 50, no. 8, pp. 1976–1987, Aug. 2017, doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.7b00218.
- [59] R. Jose Varghese, E. H. M. Sakho, S. Parani, S. Thomas, O. S. Oluwafemi, and J. Wu, "Introduction to nanomaterials: Synthesis and applications," in *Nanomaterials for Solar Cell Applications*, Elsevier, 2019, pp. 75–95. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-813337-8.00003-5.
- [60] Bosworth, L., & Downes, S. (Eds.). (2011). Electrospinning for tissue regeneration. Elsevier, doi: 10.1533/9780857092915.1.3
- [61] S. Agarwal, J. H. Wendorff, and A. Greiner, "Use of electrospinning technique for biomedical applications," *Polymer (Guildf)*, vol. 49, no. 26, pp. 5603–5621, Dec. 2008, doi: 10.1016/J.POLYMER.2008.09.014.
- [62] N. Bhardwaj and S. C. Kundu, "Electrospinning: A fascinating fiber fabrication technique," *Biotechnol Adv*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 325–347, May 2010, doi: 10.1016/J.BIOTECHADV.2010.01.004.
- [63] Suriani, M. J., Rapi, H. Z., Ilyas, R. A., Petrů, M., & Sapuan, S. M. (2021).
 Delamination and Manufacturing Defects in Natural Fiber-Reinforced
 Hybrid Composite: A Review. Polymers, 13(8), 1323, doi:
 10.3390/polym13081323.
- [64] C. Dietz, J. Sanz, and C. Cámara, "Recent developments in solid-phase microextraction coatings and related techniques," *J Chromatogr A*, vol. 1103, no. 2, pp. 183–192, Jan. 2006, doi: 10.1016/J.CHROMA.2005.11.041.

- [65] A. Spietelun, M. Pilarczyk, A. Kloskowski, and J. Namieśnik, "Current trends in solid-phase microextraction (SPME) fibre coatings," *Chem Soc Rev*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 4524–4537, Oct. 2010, doi: 10.1039/c003335a.
- [66] R. E. Shirey, "SPME Commercial Devices and Fibre Coatings," *Handbook* of Solid Phase Microextraction, pp. 99–133, Jan. 2012, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-416017-0.00004-8.
- [67] A. Spietelun, M. Pilarczyk, A. Kloskowski, and J. Namieśnik, "Current trends in solid-phase microextraction (SPME) fibre coatings," *Chem Soc Rev*, vol. 39, no. 11, pp. 4524–4537, Oct. 2010, doi: 10.1039/c003335a.
- [68] H. Lord and J. Pawliszyn, "Evolution of solid-phase microextraction technology," *J Chromatogr A*, vol. 885, no. 1–2, pp. 153–193, Jul. 2000, doi: 10.1016/S0021-9673(00)00535-5.
- [69] L. Setkova, S. Risticevic, C. M. Linton, G. Ouyang, L. M. Bragg, and J. Pawliszyn, "Solid-phase microextraction-gas chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry utilized for the evaluation of the new-generation super elastic fiber assemblies," *Anal Chim Acta*, vol. 581, no. 2, pp. 221–231, Jan. 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.aca.2006.08.022.
- [70] J. Feng, H. Qiu, X. Liu, S. Jiang, and J. Feng, "The development of solidphase microextraction fibers with metal wires as supporting substrates," *TrAC - Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, vol. 46. Elsevier B.V., pp. 44–58, 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.trac.2013.01.015.
- [71] M. R. Almasian, C. Yang, Z. Xing, S. Zhang, and X. Zhang, "Development of a graphite low-temperature plasma source with dual-mode in-source fragmentation for ambient mass spectrometry," *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 742–748, Mar. 2010, doi: 10.1002/rcm.4444.

- [72] K. Strimbu and J. A. Tavel, "What are biomarkers?," *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*, vol. 5, no. 6. pp. 463–466, Nov. 2010. doi: 10.1097/COH.0b013e32833ed177.
- [73] Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 71(3), 209–249. doi: org/10.3322/caac.21660
- [74] Decramer, S., Gonzalez de Peredo, A., Breuil, B., Mischak, H., Monsarrat, B., Bascands, J. L., & Schanstra, J. P. (2008). Urine in clinical proteomics. Molecular & cellular proteomics : MCP, 7(10), 1850–1862, doi: 10.1074/mcp.R800001-MCP200.
- [75] Jaroch, K., Taczyńska, P., Czechowska, M., Bogusiewicz, J., Łuczykowski, K., Burlikowska, K., & Bojko, B. (2021). One extraction tool for in vitro-in vivo extrapolation? SPME-based metabolomics of in vitro 2D, 3D, and in vivo mouse melanoma models. Journal of pharmaceutical analysis, 11(5), 667–674, doi: 10.1016/j.jpha.2021.03.005.
- [76] M. Platten, E. A. A. Nollen, U. F. Röhrig, F. Fallarino, and C. A. Opitz, "Tryptophan metabolism as a common therapeutic target in cancer, neurodegeneration and beyond," *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, vol. 18, no. 5. Nature Publishing Group, pp. 379–401, May 01, 2019. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0016-5.
- [77] T. Wiggins, S. Kumar, S. R. Markar, S. Antonowicz, and G. B. Hanna,
 "Tyrosine, phenylalanine, and tryptophan in gastroesophageal malignancy: A systematic review," *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*, vol. 24, no. 1. American Association for Cancer Research Inc., pp. 32–38, Jan. 01, 2015. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0980.

- [78] E. J. Siddiqui, M. A. Shabbir, D. P. Mikhailidis, F. H. Mumtaz, and C. S. Thompson, "The effect of serotonin and serotonin antagonists on bladder cancer cell proliferation," *BJU Int*, vol. 97, no. 3, pp. 634–639, 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2006.06056.x.
- [79] Sarrouilhe, D., Clarhaut, J., Defamie, N., & Mesnil, M. (2015). Serotonin and cancer: what is the link?. Current molecular medicine, 15(1), 62–77, doi: 10.2174/1566524015666150114113411
- [80] Espinosa, O., Jiménez-Almazán, J., Chaves, F. J., Tormos, M. C., Clapes, S., Iradi, A., Salvador, A., Fandos, M., Redón, J., & Sáez, G. T. (2007). Urinary 8-oxo-7,8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG), a reliable oxidative stress marker in hypertension. Free radical research, 41(5), 546–554, doi: 10.1080/10715760601164050.
- [81] Borrego, S., Vazquez, A., Dasí, F., Cerdá, C., Iradi, A., Tormos, C., Sánchez, J. M., Bagán, L., Boix, J., Zaragoza, C., Camps, J., & Sáez, G. (2013). Oxidative Stress and DNA Damage in Human Gastric Carcinoma: 8-Oxo-7'8-dihydro-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG) as a Possible Tumor Marker. International journal of molecular sciences, 14(2), 3467–3486, doi: 10.3390/ijms14023467.
- [82] Roszkowski, K., Jozwicki, W., Blaszczyk, P., Mucha-Malecka, A., & Siomek, A. (2011). Oxidative damage DNA: 8-oxoGua and 8-oxodG as molecular markers of cancer. Medical science monitor: international medical journal of experimental and clinical research, 17(6), CR329, doi: 10.12659/MSM.881805.
- [83] Alam, Z. I., Jenner, A., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A. J., Cairns, N., Marsden, C. D., Jenner, P., & Halliwell, B. (1997). Oxidative DNA damage in the parkinsonian brain: an apparent selective increase in 8-hydroxyguanine levels in substantia nigra. Journal of neurochemistry, 69(3), 1196–1203, doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1997.69031196.x

- [84] Alberice, J. V., Amaral, A. F., Armitage, E. G., Lorente, J. A., Algaba, F., Carrilho, E., Márquez, M., García, A., Malats, N., & Barbas, C. (2013).
 Searching for urine biomarkers of bladder cancer recurrence using a liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry and capillary electrophoresis-mass spectrometry metabolomics approach. Journal of chromatography. A, 1318, 163–170, doi: 10.1016/j.chroma.2013.10.002.
- [85] T. Wiggins, S. Kumar, S. R. Markar, S. Antonowicz, and G. B. Hanna,
 "Tyrosine, phenylalanine, and tryptophan in gastroesophageal malignancy: A systematic review," *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*, vol. 24, no. 1. American Association for Cancer Research Inc., pp. 32–38, Jan. 01, 2015. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0980.
- [86] An, Z., Chen, Y., Zhang, R., Song, Y., Sun, J., He, J., Bai, J., Dong, L.,
 Zhan, Q., & Abliz, Z. (2010). Integrated ionization approach for RRLC MS/MS-based metabonomics: finding potential biomarkers for lung cancer.
 Journal of proteome research, 9(8), 4071–4081, doi: 10.1021/pr100265g.
- [87] H. W. Kuo, S. Y. Chou, T. W. Hu, F. Y. Wu, and D. J. Chen, "Urinary 8hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) and genetic polymorphisms in breast cancer patients," *Mutat Res Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen*, vol. 631, no. 1, pp. 62–68, Jul. 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2007.04.009.
- [88] Qiu, Y., Cai, G., Su, M., Chen, T., Liu, Y., Xu, Y., Ni, Y., Zhao, A., Cai, S., Xu, L. X., & Jia, W. (2010). Urinary metabonomic study on colorectal cancer. Journal of proteome research, 9(3), 1627–1634, doi: 10.1021/pr901081y.
- [89] J. Peng, Y.-T. Chen, C.-L. Chen, and L. Li, "Development of a Universal Metabolome-Standard Method for Long-Term LC–MS Metabolome Profiling and Its Application for Bladder Cancer Urine-Metabolite-Biomarker Discovery," 2014, doi: 10.1021/ac5011684.

- [90] Jose, J., Tavares, C. D. J., Ebelt, N. D., Lodi, A., Edupuganti, R., Xie, X., Devkota, A. K., Kaoud, T. S., Van Den Berg, C. L., Anslyn, E. V., Tiziani, S., Bartholomeusz, C., & Dalby, K. N. (2017). Serotonin Analogues as Inhibitors of Breast Cancer Cell Growth. ACS medicinal chemistry letters, 8(10), 1072–1076, doi: 10.1021/acsmedchemlett.7b00282.
- [91] Yang, T., Guo, X., Wu, Y., Wang, H., Fu, S., Wen, Y., & Yang, H. (2014). Facile and label-free detection of lung cancer biomarker in urine by magnetically assisted surface-enhanced Raman scattering. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 6(23), 20985–20993, doi: 10.1021/am5057536.
- [92] D. Maraldo, F. U. Garcia, and R. Mutharasan, "Method for Quantification of a Prostate Cancer Biomarker in Urine without Sample Preparation," 2007, doi: 10.1021/ac070895z.
- [93] Meyer, T. E., Fox, S. D., Issaq, H. J., Xu, X., Chu, L. W., Veenstra, T. D., & Hsing, A. W. (2011). A reproducible and high-throughput HPLC/MS method to separate sarcosine from α- and β-alanine and to quantify sarcosine in human serum and urine. Analytical chemistry, 83(14), 5735–5740, doi: 10.1021/ac201003r.
- [94] Khadjavi, A., Mannu, F., Destefanis, P., Sacerdote, C., Battaglia, A., Allasia, M., & Turrini, F. (2015). Early diagnosis of bladder cancer through the detection of urinary tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins. British Journal of Cancer, 113(3), 469-475, doi: 10.1038/bjc.2015.232.
- [95] S. Fukushima, T. Ogiso, Y. Kurata, M. A. Shibata, and T. Kakizoe,
 "Absence of promotion potential for calcium l-ascorbate, l-ascorbic dipalmitate, l-ascorbic stearate and erythorbic acid on rat urinary bladder carcinogenesis," *Cancer Lett*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 17–25, Apr. 1987, doi: 10.1016/0304-3835(87)90052-8.
- [96] H. Nam, B. C. Chung, Y. Kim, K. Lee, and D. Lee, "Combining tissue transcriptomics and urine metabolomics for breast cancer biomarker

identification," vol. 25, no. 23, pp. 3151–3157, 2009, doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp558.

- [97] J. M. Yuan, L. M. Butler, I. Stepanov, and S. S. Hecht, "Urinary tobacco smoke-constituent biomarkers for assessing risk of lung cancer," *Cancer Research*, vol. 74, no. 2. pp. 401–411, Jan. 15, 2014. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3178.
- [98] Qiu, Y., Cai, G., Su, M., Chen, T., Liu, Y., Xu, Y., Ni, Y., Zhao, A., Cai, S., Xu, L. X., & Jia, W. (2010). Urinary metabonomic study on colorectal cancer. Journal of proteome research, 9(3), 1627–1634, doi: 10.1021/pr901081y.
- [99] Ji, J., Chen, X., Xu, Y., Cao, Z., Xu, H., Kong, C., Wang, F., & Sun, Y.
 (2019). Prostate Cancer Diagnosis Using Urine Sediment Analysis-Based α-Methylacyl-CoA Racemase Score: A Single-Center Experience. Cancer
 control : journal of the Moffitt Cancer Center, 26(1), 1073274819887697.
- [100] R. M. Rosa, J. C. Silva, I. S. Sanches, and C. Henriques, "Simultaneous photo-induced cross-linking and silver nanoparticle formation in a PVP electrospun wound dressing," *Mater Lett*, vol. 207, pp. 145–148, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.matlet.2017.07.046.
- [101] Truong, Y. B., Choi, J., Mardel, J., Gao, Y., Maisch, S., Musameh, M., & Kyratzis, I. L. (2017). Functional Cross-Linked Electrospun Polyvinyl Alcohol Membranes and Their Potential Applications. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering, 302(8), 1700024, doi: 10.1002/mame.201700024.
- [102] Lendor, S., Hassani, S. A., Boyaci, E., Singh, V., Womelsdorf, T., & Pawliszyn, J. (2019). Solid phase microextraction-based miniaturized probe and protocol for extraction of neurotransmitters from brains in vivo. Analytical chemistry, 91(7), 4896-4905, doi: 10.1021/acs.analchem.9b00995.

- [103] S. Y. Jin, M. H. Kim, Y. G. Jeong, Y. il Yoon, and W. H. Park, "Effect of alkaline hydrolysis on cyclization reaction of PAN nanofibers," *Mater Des*, vol. 124, pp. 69–77, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1016/J.MATDES.2017.03.066.
- [104] F. Mahmoudi Beram, G. A. Koohmareh, and A. Malekpour, "Preparation and characterization of aqueous stable electro-spun nanofibers using polyvinyl alcohol/polyvinyl pyrrolidone/zeolite," *Soft Mater*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 41–56, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1080/1539445X.2018.1546191.
- [105] R. M. Rosa, J. C. Silva, I. S. Sanches, and C. Henriques, "Simultaneous photo-induced cross-linking and silver nanoparticle formation in a PVP electrospun wound dressing," *Mater Lett*, vol. 207, pp. 145–148, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.1016/J.MATLET.2017.07.046.
- [106] Truong, Y. B., Choi, J., Mardel, J., Gao, Y., Maisch, S., Musameh, M., & Kyratzis, I. L. (2017). Functional Cross-Linked Electrospun Polyvinyl Alcohol Membranes and Their Potential Applications. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering, 302(8), 1700024, doi: 10.1002/mame.201700024.
- [107] E. Boyaci, K. Gorynski, A. Rodriguez-Lafuente, B. Bojko, and J. Pawliszyn, "Introduction of solid-phase microextraction as a high-throughput sample preparation tool in laboratory analysis of prohibited substances," *Anal Chim Acta*, vol. 809, pp. 69–81, Jan. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.aca.2013.11.056.
- [108] Fda and Cder, "Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry Biopharmaceutics Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry Biopharmaceutics Contains Nonbinding Recommendations," 2018. [Online]. Available:

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Gui dances/default.htmand/orhttp://www.fda.gov/AnimalVeterinary/GuidanceCo mplianceEnforcement/GuidanceforIndustry/default.htm

APPENDICES

100 177.2 90 163.2 80 205.2 70 60 268.2 50 192.2 40 166.2 284.2 240 260 160 180 200 220 280 m/z

A. CBS-MS and LC-MS Chronograms

Figure A.1. Mass spectrum of nicotine (m/z=163.2), phenylalanine (m/z=166.2), serotonin (m/z=177.2), 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (m/z=192.2), tryptophan (m/z=205.2), 8-oxo-Da (m/z=268.2), and 8-oxo-dG (m/z=284.2) obtained in CBS-MS.



Figure A.2. LC-MS chromatogram of analytes obtained in SIM mode (concentration: 50.0 ng/mL)



Figure A.3. Typical total ion chronograms obtained during the optimization of the voltage of the external voltage source in CBS-MS studies.